



# Jonathan Havthornthwaite



Osprey Games, an imprint of Osprey Publishing Ltd c/o Bloomsbury Publishing Plc PO Box 883, Oxford, OX1 9PL, UK Or c/o Bloomsbury Publishing Inc. 1385 Broadway, 5th Floor, New York, NY 10018 E-mail: info@ospreypublishing.com

#### www.ospreygames.co.uk

OSPREY and OSPREY GAMES are trademarks of Osprey Publishing Ltd, a division of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.

This electronic edition published in 2017 by Bloomsbury Publishing Plc

First published in Great Britain in 2017

© 2017 Osprey Publishing Ltd

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be used or reproduced in any form, without prior written permission, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews. Enquiries should be addressed to the Publishers.

A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

ISBN: HB: 9781472817778 ePub: 9781472817792 ePDF: 9781472817785 XML: 9781472823915

Osprey Publishing supports the Woodland Trust, the UK's leading woodland conservation charity. Between 2014 and 2018 our donations are being spent on their Centenary Woods project in the UK.

#### DEDICATION

In memory of my grandfather, Jim Clarkson, for introducing me to the joys of Westerns and wargames in the first place!

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Special thanks to Phil at Osprey for giving me this great opportunity; to my friends Stuart, Aaron, Andy, Tony and Tom, Ian, Johnny, and Ste for their patience; and also to my parents, Gail and John, for all their support over the years!



All the photos in this book were kindly provided by Nick Eyre and Kevin Dallimore of North Star Military Figures (www. northstarfigures.com), and show figures from North Star's official *Dracula's America* range, sculpted by Mike Owen and Mark Copplestone, and from Artizan Designs' Wild West line (www.artizandesigns.com).





# CONTENTS

**PLAYING A GAME** 

Team Games

Deployment

Winning the Game and Special Scenario Rules

Scenario 1: Stake a Claim

Agendas

Building a Posse for One-Off Games

Choose a Scenario and set up Table

INTRODUCTION	5
The Rules	5
Campaigns	5 5
Dracula's America	6
WHAT YOU WILL NEED TO PLAY	6
THE RULES	9
THE CORE RULES	9
Some Common Concepts	9
Anatomy of a Game	12
Activations	14
Actions	14
Move	18
Shoot	23
Fight	29
Damage	32
Lookout	33
The NPC Phase	36
The Recovery Phase	37
THE ADVANCED RULES	39
Mounted Models	39

Dynamite

Innocent Bystanders

Unexpected Events

Unusual Terrain

	Scenario 2: A Fistful of Loot
9	Scenario 3: Shootout!
9	Scenario 4: The Getaway
12	Scenario 5: Showdown
14	Scenario 6: Bonanza!
14	Scenario 7: Escalation
18	
23	CAMPAIGNS
29	UAMI AIUMD
32	CAMPAIGN POSSES
33	CAMIFAIUN FUSSES
36	Building a Campaign Posse
	Retiring Your Posse
37	Teening Tour Tosse
	THE CAMPAIGN TURN
39	
39	CHALLENGE PHASE
41	UNALLINUL FNAJE

<b>INJURY PHASE</b>	
Casualties	

Casualties64Downed Models64

ADVANCEMENT PHASE	65
Advance Rolls	65
Rank-Up	65
Random Skill	66
Preferred Skill	68
INCOME PHASE	69
Encounters	70
PURCHASE PHASE	74
Recruitment	74
Hired Guns	75
Buying and Selling	78
INFAMY PHASE	84
Underdogs	85
DRACULA'S AMERICA	86
A BRIEF TIMELINE OF DRACULA'S AMERICA	86
UNUSUAL MODELS	90
Supernatural Models	90
Flying Models	90
Ethereal Models	91

SUMMONED MODELS	92
Unique Summonings	93
Arcane Power Summary	96
THE FACTIONS	100
The Twilight Order	100
The Red Hand Coven	102
The Skinwalker Tribes	104
The Crossroads Cult	107
The Congregation	110
The Dark Confederacy	112
SUPERNATURAL EVENTS	115
SUPERNATURAL CREATURES	116
Zombie or Vampiric Outbreak!	116
Unwelcome Guests: A Bestiary	118
SUPERNATURAL HIRED GUNS	123
SUPERNATURAL GEAR	126
SUPERNATURAL ENCOUNTERS	128
POSSE ROSTER SHEET	131
QUICK REFERENCE	133



**ARCANE POWERS** 

Casting Powers Concentrate

C)€

91

91 92



Welcome to *Shadows of the West*, a fun and fast-paced tabletop narrative skirmish game that, at its simplest, allows you to recreate the gunfights of the Old West – as dramatised in countless Hollywood films – with your friends.

However, when all the elements provided in this book are combined they allow you to explore a gothic world where the supernatural is a very real part of life!

Shadows of the West has three chapters: The Rules, Campaigns and Dracula's America. These three facets of the game are entirely modular; you and your gaming friends will decide just how 'weird' you want your own corner of the West to be, and simply add in or remove the appropriate rules as desired!

# THE RULES

*Shadows of the West* was designed to be unpredictable and fast-moving, yet easy to grasp. You will find the rules split into three sections:

- The first section lays out the core rules that will allow you and one or more opponents to play a quick and easy game lasting around an hour.
- The second adds more advanced rules for Dynamite, Innocent Bystanders, Unusual Terrain and for introducing Unexpected Events to your games.
- The final section includes everything else you need to know to play a game, from setting up the playing area to deploying your models, to the scenarios themselves. It includes complications known as Agendas that ensure no two games need be the same!

# CAMPAIGNS

The dark heart of *Shadows of the West* is really its Campaign system, which allows you to follow the story of your chosen Posse throughout their infamous career, from humble beginnings to the heights of wealth and power (or else an ignominious one-way trip to Boot Hill)!

5

After each game, your Posse will suffer injuries or advance their skills and abilities with Experience, and earn money that allows you to buy new weapons and gear, recruit fresh blood or unique Hired Guns, and have characterful encounters between games that will add to the legends you and your friends create on the tabletop.

# DRACULA'S AMERICA

For those brave souls willing to risk life, limb and sanity, this book also allows you to bring a supernatural twist to your games! Set in an alternate and darkly gothic timeline where Dracula rules a devastated America, where foul creatures prowl the shadows and where warring factions struggle for supremacy, this chapter presents additional rules for supernatural encounters and events, supernatural creatures and new equipment for dealing with them. You will also learn of Arcane Powers, and the six Factions that fight amid the ruins of post-Civil War America.

# What You Will Need to Play

In addition to these rules and at least one opponent, you will need the following items to play *Shadows of the West*:

- A flat gaming area (referred to hereafter as the 'table') between two foot by two foot and four foot by four foot, with three foot by three foot being the standard size. A kitchen table is ideal.
- One 'Posse' of models per player. These rules were designed and playtested with 28–32mm scale models on 25mm diameter round bases in mind, and each Posse will usually consist of between six and ten models. Players with existing collections of Old West miniatures can of course use these with no problem, though it should go without saying that all the players should be using the same scale of model.
- Model terrain. This can be as simple as piles of books or boxes to represent buildings and hills, but nothing brings a game to life like a fully modelled miniature world representing a frontier town, an isolated ranch in the badlands or a thickly forested wilderness. Many companies make appropriate Old West scenery that can easily be bought online if you are short on time.

#### **OPPOSITE The Red Hand Coven: Broodsire**





A handful of six-, eight- and ten-sided Dice (referred to as D6, D8 and D10 in the rules). These are readily available from online suppliers and local gaming stores, if you are lucky enough to have one. About six of each type should be plenty, and I recommend having each type a different colour to assist in quick identification for those players unfamiliar with these kinds of Dice (for example, white for D6, black for D8 and red for D10). Note also that I will refer to several Dice or a single Die with a capital 'D': this is to avoid any confusion in a game where our models regularly 'die'!

- A single deck of ordinary playing cards per player.
- A retractable tape measure or other measuring instrument showing inches ("). On a related note, you may find a laser pointer (also available from your friendly local games store) useful to help determine what your models can 'see' during a game.
- A few special tokens and markers to help keep track of various in-game effects, such as when a weapon is Jammed or when a model is Done or on Lookout. I use circular plastic miniatures bases 20mm in diameter and painted appropriate colours.
- If playing a Campaign game, you need a Posse Roster Sheet for each Posse. There is a blank example at the back of this book for you to photocopy for personal use. Each space on the Roster Sheet allows you to record the overall ability, Skills, Injuries and equipment of each model in your Posse, as well as track their current Experience.
- You will also find a set of Reference Sheets for the game that you can photocopy for personal use. Once you have a few games under your belt, you will find it quicker and more convenient to use these condensed and abbreviated versions of the rules during play.



8



# The Core Rules some common concepts

The following are the core concepts behind the rules; for ease of reference (and to save space and repetition later!), they are collected here:

#### Contact

Two elements (models, terrain and so on) are deemed to be 'in Contact' when they are physically touching. This includes the model's bases.

Two opposing models in Contact are also said to be 'engaged' in a Fight with each other.

#### Dice

*Shadows of the West* uses three different kinds of Dice to determine the success or failure of your actions. These are six-sided, eight-sided and ten-sided, referred to hereafter for brevity as D6, D8 and D10 respectively.

Note that many D10s show a '0' instead of a '10'; for our purposes this is treated as a score of ten.

When you are asked to 're-roll' one or more Dice, the second result must usually be accepted even if it is worse than the initial score. You can normally only re-roll any single Die once.

Where opposing players might wish to force a re-roll of the same Die, the currently Active player decides who gets the re-roll!

If asked to roll a D3, D4 or D5, simply roll a D6 (for a D3), D8 (for a D4) or D10 (for a D5) and halve the result, rounded up to the nearest whole number.

#### Line of Sight (LOS)

Our models are always assumed to be facing in the direction they are looking, and have a 180-degree field of view to their front – imagine a horizontal line bisecting the centre-point of the model's base to help determine this.

When required to check LOS, stoop over the table for a look behind the model's head – if you can see any part of the target's head or body (we don't include limbs, hats, weapons and other accoutrements) then your model can 'see' it. The aforementioned laser pointer can be invaluable here.

The most important rule for fair interpretation of LOS is that if you determine that you can see an enemy model, then they can also see you. Likewise, if you can't see them, they cannot see you from their current position either!

#### Measuring

By default, players may always pre-measure any distance during a game before deciding what to do.

If you and all your opponents agree, you may opt to disallow pre-measuring before the game begins – so for example, if you decide to shoot at an enemy you will automatically miss if your target is found to be out of range.

When checking the distance between two elements, always measure from closest point to closest point. When dealing with models, always measure from the edge of their bases.

#### **Roll-Offs**

If asked to make a 'Roll-Off' by the rules, each player involved rolls a D10 with the highest scorer winning the Roll-Off. Events then usually occur in descending order of scores (highest to lowest).

If two or more players are tied, they re-roll until one of them scores highest.

#### Grit

Instead of relying on a long profile of statistics to determine how tough, accurate or brave a model is, *Shadows of the West* folds all of this into a single characteristic that is used for many things during a game: Grit.

There are three 'Ranks' of Grit, and each is linked to a specific type of Die (or 'Grit Die'):

- **Novices** are the lowest rank of model, representing unskilled henchmen or creatures. Their Die-type is D6.
- **Veterans** are the average rank of model, representing seasoned hands and competent fighters. Their Die-type is D8.
- **Heroes** are the highest rank of model living legends of the Old West, feared and respected by all. Their Die-type is D10.

### Tests

During a game, there are many different circumstances where you will be asked to make a Test. However, the simple procedure given below is the same, no matter what the situation is.

#### 1: Determine Base Number of Dice

When a model is instructed to make a 'Test', you take a certain number of Dice of the type appropriate to their Rank to start with. This is most often either 1 or three Dice.

So a Novice instructed to make a '3 Dice Shooting Test' would start with three D6, for example.

#### 2: Apply Dice Modifiers

You then apply any appropriate Dice Modifiers as applicable to the situation. Note that these alter the number of Dice you get to roll, rather than the scores on the Dice as in many other games.

For example, a -1 Die Modifier means you roll one fewer Die, and a +1 Die Modifier means you roll one extra Die.

Dice Tests made outside of a game are never Modified!

You can never be reduced to 0 Dice for any Test – you always get at least one Die, regardless of Modifiers.

#### 3: Roll the Dice

Once you have determined your final number of Dice, roll them all together and then read each one separately:

- Each Die showing a score of 5 or better is a Success.
- Each Die showing a score of 4 or less is a Failure.
- If a Die shows the maximum possible score (for example, a 6 on a D6), then you may re-roll one of the other Dice if you wish, following the rules for re-rolls given previously.

For example, I roll two D8s and score a 3 and an 8. The 8 allows me to re-roll the 3, and I score a 5. I have therefore scored two Successes, one for the 8 and one for the 5!

#### 4: Determine Outcome

The total number of Successes you scored will determine the outcome of the Test.



11

# **ANATOMY OF A GAME**

A game of *Shadows of the West* is divided into eight Game Turns. Each Game Turn is further split into four Phases which are resolved in the order given below.

Each full Game Turn represents just a few seconds of 'real time' where it is assumed our models are all running around and shooting at each other simultaneously!

#### 1: Draw Phase

In this first Phase, each player creates their Hand for the Turn by drawing a number of cards from the top of their Deck equal to half the number of models they currently have on the table (rounded up), plus an extra card if their Posse's Boss is amongst them.

As you play cards, they will be placed face up in your Discard Pile that is kept to one side of the table.

#### **2: Action Phase**

This Phase is where all the main action takes place!

Each player chooses and plays a card from their Hand to determine the order of Activations. Once each player has had an Activation, the process is repeated until no cards remain in any player's Hand or all models on the table are marked as Done; the Phase ends at this point.

If only one player has models eligible to Activate, they will simply make consecutive Activations with these models until they are finished and the Phase ends.

#### **3: NPC Phase**

All models not directly controlled by a player will each get an Activation in this Phase.

#### 4: Recovery Phase

In the Recovery Phase, all Done Tokens (see later) are removed from your models. Your Downed models then get a chance to Recover.

Finally, your Posse may be required to make a Bottle Check if it has suffered enough punishment.



**OPPOSITE The Congregation: Mambo** 





# ACTIVATIONS

During the Action Phase, the following sequence is resolved:

# 1: Play a Card From Your Hand

If able to do so, each player chooses a card from their Hand and plays it, facedown, in front of them.

Once all players have played a card, the cards flipped over and the order of Activation is determined.

### 2: Determine Order of Activations

Each player who played a card will get to make an Activation. The exact order of this is determined by the revealed cards. When it is your turn to Activate, your Posse becomes Active and you may Activate one or more of your eligible models, so long as they do not already have Done Tokens.

- Players make Activations from the highest value card to the lowest. For this purpose, Aces are the highest value card followed by Kings, Queens,
  Jacks, then numerical cards (values 10 down to 2) and finally Jokers.
- Black cards resolve before red cards. Black cards (Spades and Clubs) are always resolved before red cards (Hearts and Diamonds). Therefore, a player who played a 2 of Clubs will get their Activations before one who played an Ace of Hearts, for example.
- **Cards of same value.** If two or more players reveal conflicting cards of identical value (for example, Ace of Spades and Ace of Clubs), then these players Roll-Off. Their Activations are then resolved in descending order.



• Identical cards. If the exact same card is revealed by two or more players, an Event occurs immediately (see page 45) and then these players Roll-Off to establish who Activates first.

### **3: Make Activations**

When it is your Activation, you may Activate any of your models that do not already have Done Tokens. You then have three options:

- Firstly, if all your remaining models have Done Tokens, then you must **Pass** the Activation. In this case, your card goes straight into the Discard Pile.
- Or, you may make a **Solo Activation**. This allows you to make two Actions with a single model in any combination of Move, Shoot, Fight or Lookout Actions, as applicable. Each Weapon can only be fired once per Activation, but if the model has two or more Weapons it can Shoot each as a separate Action. Finally, each Action must be made separately. *For example, the model could Move then Shoot, Shoot then Move, Move twice* (*making two discrete 4*" *Move Actions, not one 8*" *Move!*), or Shoot twice. The model then receives a Done Token to show it has been Activated this Turn.
- Or, you may make a **Dual Activation**. This allows you to choose any two models and make one Action with each of them. Each model can make different Actions, and the order these are resolved in is up to the player; however, you must finish one model's Actions before moving on to the next one. Once the Activation is complete, both models receive Done Tokens.

#### 4: Discard and Repeat

Once you have had your Activation, your card goes face up on your Discard Pile. Once all cards have been resolved, start the process again at step 1 until all players have no cards in their Hand or all models on the table are marked as Done. At this point, any cards remaining in the player's Hands are discarded and the Action Phase ends. To be clear: you always start a new Game Turn with no cards in your Hand!



#### EXAMPLE OF THE ACTIVATION PROCESS

Andy, Tony, Tom and John are playing a game. Each Posse comprises six models at the start of the Turn.

Each player therefore draws three cards, and as all their Bosses are also in play, they each get an extra card for a total of four cards each.

Each player chooses their first card – these are then revealed.

Andy has played the 10 of Spades, Tony the Jack of Hearts, Tom the 10 of Spades and John the 6 of Clubs.

Firstly, Andy and Tom both play the 10 of Spades – this triggers an Event! After the Event has been resolved, Andy and Tom must Roll-Off. Andy wins this.

Now, all black cards are resolved in descending order – in this case, Andy takes an Activation, followed by Tom and then John.

Tony then resolves his red card. Note that John made his Activation before Tony even though his card technically had a lower value. This is because all black cards are resolved before red ones.

# **Running Out of Cards**

Your Deck is not re-shuffled after each Turn – previously played cards remain in your Discard Pile and are unavailable until you Refresh your Deck.

If you find yourself unable to draw enough cards at the start of a new Turn, you must Refresh your Deck – draw what cards you can, then thoroughly shuffle your Discard Pile to create a new Deck; and then continue drawing further cards into your Hand as necessary.

**OPPOSITE The Dark Confederacy: Pale Rider** 





#### Lone Gun!

If you have a Hand comprising only one card at the start of a Turn, you may decide exactly when to play it (following all normal rules for doing so) during the Phase. In effect, you can 'pass' the opportunity to play this card until you wish to do so.

# ACTIONS

When a model is Activated, it makes one or more of the following Actions: Move, Shoot, Fight or Lookout. A model does not have to perform an Action if you don't want it to!

# MOYE

A model that Activates for a Move Action can travel up to 4" across open ground. While moving, a model can change direction as often as it likes and can pass freely through doors and windows (that it could feasibly squeeze through!) as it goes, except where noted below, so long as no part of the model's base travels further than its maximum allowed movement.

Remember that a model is always assumed to be looking in the direction it is facing at the end of a Move. If you just want a model to pivot on the spot this still counts as a Move!

A model travelling through an area of rough ground such as thick undergrowth, shallow water and so on counts each inch actually travelled as 2".

So travelling 1" in rough ground uses up 2" of movement.

**OPPOSITE The Skinwalker Tribes: Wendigo** 



#### Other Models

Friendly models do not block movement, but you cannot end a Move on top of them.

You cannot voluntarily Move closer than 1" to an enemy model unless you intend to Contact (engage) them.

If an enemy model is in Contact with a linear obstacle of less than 2" height, such as a low wall or fence, you are classed as being in Contact with them as long as your own model is in Contact with the obstacle and within 1" of them. Each model is considered Fortified (see page 30) by the other in this case.

### **Charging Enemy Models**

If you engage an enemy that your model could see at the start of its Move, you are said to have Charged them. Your model immediately makes a free Fight Action as part of its Move against the nominated enemy (see page 29 for more on Fighting).

#### **Disengaging From Contact**

You may also leave Contact with an enemy model as part of a Move. This is referred to as a 'Disengage'. Make a 1 Die Disengage Test for the Disengaging model – if successful, the model Disengages.

If failed, the model will still Disengage, but must first make a 5+ Save for each enemy it was in Contact with (representing them getting an opportunistic blow in as the Disengaging model turns its back). Assuming the Disengaging model is still able to do so, it then completes its Disengage.

You cannot Disengage into Contact with an enemy model under any circumstances!



#### Climbing and Leaping...

Vertical movement (up or down) of 2" or more is measured and deducted from your movement. If you don't have enough movement to reach the other side in one Action, you must halt at the near side instead. Any obstacle less than 2" high is ignored when moving.

A model may climb terrain that is higher than its total movement as long as it begins the Action in Contact with the structure; the model is then placed at the top or bottom of the structure as applicable and its Activation ends immediately (even if it still had Actions remaining).

A model can drop straight down off an elevated position at no cost in movement instead of climbing if it wishes; however, if the drop is greater than 2", it counts as falling.

A model can also leap a gap of up to 4" wide as part of its Move, so long as it has enough movement to reach the other side. If not, it will fall straight down at the point its Move ends.

#### ...And Falling

A model that falls must make a 5+ Save. For every additional full 2" fallen, this Save becomes one worse!

For example, a model falls 4". The player must make a Save of 6+. If a model falls 5", it would still make a 6+ Save.

If the Save is passed, then the model is unharmed – we assume they rolled as they hit the floor, or landed on something that conveniently broke their fall.

Falling onto another model may do some damage. The unfortunate model being used as an impromptu landing pad must immediately make a 5+ Save, and the falling model is then placed within 1" of them before making its own Save.

#### **Clearing a Jammed Weapon**

A model with one or more Jammed Weapons may spend an entire Move Action to 'clear' one (and only one) of them – remove the desired Jam Token from the model.







# SHOOT

A model that Activates for a Shoot Action follows the procedure below.

If a Weapon (such as a Repeater Rifle) or Skill allows you to fire multiple times as a single Action, then each shot is always resolved separately, one at a time, following this procedure. You may even choose different Targets for each shot if you wish!

### 1: Declare Weapon and Target

Declare which Weapon they are firing (if carrying more than one) and nominate a single Target model – this must be the closest visible enemy model, unless a more distant enemy is an easier Target!

Models on 40mm diameter (or more) bases are so large that they can always be Targeted, even if they are not the closest visible enemy model to the Shooter.

You may try to override the above limitation by making a 1 Die Spotting Test for the Shooter – if you score a Success you may choose any visible enemy model as your Target. If you Fail, then the model loses its chance to Shoot entirely and its Action is wasted.

Models that are Downed or engaged in a Fight can be ignored when nominating a Target.

#### **OPPOSITE The Red Hand Coven: Vampire Ancient**

### 2: Check Range

You then measure the distance to the Target. Every Weapon has three Range 'bands': Short, Medium and Long. The band your Target falls within determines how easy it is to hit them. If the Target is somehow exactly partway between two Range bands, then you must use the higher one.

If you are not allowing pre-measurement in your game, a model whose nominated Target is found to be outside Long Range of their chosen Weapon loses its chance to Shoot, and the Action is wasted.

#### 3: Roll to Hit

With Range determined, make a 3 Dice Shooting Test for the Shooter. The following Dice Modifiers apply:

SHOOT MODIFIERS				
Target has Cover	-1			
Target at Long Range	-1			
Back-Shooter	+1			
Target at Short Range	+1			
Shooter Elevated	+1			



If you score no Successes, the shot misses and the Action is over! If you missed and at least one Die also scored a 1, you must make a Jamming Check for that Weapon.

Otherwise, the shot has hit – count up the number of Successes scored and go to step 4.

#### 4: Target Makes Save if Hit

The Target model must now make a Save on one Grit Die to try and escape harm.

It is important to note that a 'Save' is not a 'Test' and so Dice Modifiers do not apply to them!

The score needed to Save depends on how many Successes the Shooter scored. Also note that certain other game effects can modify the score shown on your Grit Die, either positively or negatively.

SAVES			
Number of Successes	Save On		
1	5+		
2	6+		
3	7+		
4	8+		
5	9+		
6+	10+		

For example, a '-1 Save Modifier' means a score of 5 actually counts as a 4.

If you score equal to or higher than the appropriate number, you pass the Save and suffer no harm.

Note that even if the required score is impossible to achieve on your Die (for example a Save of 8+ on a D6) then a Save must still be made – for reasons that will soon become apparent!

If a Save is Failed, then the Target suffers Damage. See page 32 for more on this.

#### **Jamming Checks**

When required to make a Jamming Check, roll the Weapon's Jam Die. On a Success nothing happens, but on a Failure the Weapon receives a Jammed Token, which must be cleared before it can be used again! If it has any other Weapons available it may of course still use those.

#### **Fire Corridors**

Certain indiscriminate Weapons – such as Sawn-Off Shotguns – do not use the above procedure when they fire.

25



Instead, nominate a Target using the normal rules and then imagine a straight line extending directly forwards the full Range of the Weapon from the centre of the Shooter's base and on through the centre of the Target's. Note that the line may continue on past the Target to catch models behind them, but will be blocked by solid terrain (such as the wall of a building) of 2" or more in height.

This is the fire corridor. Any visible model besides the Shooter – friend or foe – within 1" of the line is a potential victim!

A model whose base lies under the line is Hit automatically.

For every potential victim within 1" of the line the Shooter rolls one Grit Die, working from closest model to most distant. On a Success, that model is also Hit.

All models that were Hit must make a 5+ Save.

#### Cover

To determine if a Target has Cover, trace an imaginary line – the 'Line of Fire' – from the centre of the Shooter's base to the centre of the Target's. If this line crosses any amount of terrain (or models) of at least 1" high, then the Target can claim Cover. Obstructions in Contact with the Shooter do not block their Line of Fire.

Terrain such as woodland, ruined buildings and swampland is represented by an 'area'. This is best delineated by a rough oblong shape of card or felt with appropriate representative terrain elements (such as trees, piles of debris and so on) placed on top. While inside such 'area terrain' a model is assumed to be making best use of the undergrowth, tall crops etc. If the Line of Fire passes through at least 1" of the area before reaching the centre of a model's base, then that model is assumed to have Cover.

#### Elevation

A Shooter is Elevated if it is physically standing at least 2" higher up than the Target model.

#### **Back-Shooting**

You gain the 'Back-Shooter' bonus if you are not visible to your Target. In other words, the Shooter must be outside of the Target's 180-degree front field of view.

#### **Shooting Into a Fight**

Surely, only the most desperate or unscrupulous of characters would even contemplate this course of action! You may choose a Target that is engaged in a Fight (that is, in Contact with one or more models, including your own) if you

**OPPOSITE The Twilight Order: Seraphim** 

wish. You and the owner of the nominated Target must then Roll-Off, with the winner choosing which model involved in the Fight is actually threatened by the shot. This can be any model visible to the Shooter and in Contact with the original Target – so you can't use this rule to 'snipe' an enemy around the corner of a building, for example!

Once the Target has been determined, the shooter proceeds with the Attack as normal (even if it is against their friend). This means they must check Range and so on, and may end up being unable to make their shot after all.

Note that fire corridor Weapons (such as Sawn-Off Shotguns) and explosions (such as those caused by Dynamite) ignore the above rules and will simply affect all models within their area of effect!

#### DESIGNER'S NOTE ON SHOOTING

It's worth noting here that the number of Dice you roll to Shoot does not necessarily equate to the number of 'shots' fired. Similarly, the number of Successes scored does not indicate the number of 'hits' inflicted; rather, it's a measure of how accurate the Shooter was – so scoring three Successes with a single-shot Rifle represents a single (especially well-placed) bullet.

BASIC WEAPONS TABLE					
Weapon		Ranges		Jam	Notes
	S	M	L		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL
Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D10	Pistol
Carbine	6"	12"	18"	D10	Rifle
Shotgun	4"	8"	12"	D10	Shotgun. Extra + 1 Die Shooting at up to 4", and extra -1 Die at 9–12"
Bow	6"	12"	18"	D10	Native Americans only. Targets gain a $+1$ Save Modifier at 7–12", and $+2$ at 13–18"
Rifle	8"	16"	24"	D8	Rifle

#### Weapons Summary

			SPE	CIAL WE	APONS TABLE
Weapon	pon		Ranges		Notes
	S	M	L		
Heavy Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 4"
Sixgun	4"	8"	12"	D6	Pistol. May Shoot twice as one Action
LeMat Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Once per game, may Shoot as a Sawn-Off Shotgun
Repeater Rifle	6"	12"	18"	D6	Rifle. May Shoot twice as one Action
Buffalo Gun	10"	20"	30"	D6	Rifle. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 10"
Sawn-Off Shotgun	6" F	ire Corri	dor	Auto	Shotgun. Automatically Jams after Shooting

# FIGHT

When a model is Activated for a Fight Action, follow this procedure:

# 1: Choose Defender

Nominate one enemy model in Contact with the Attacker as the 'Defender'. This is the model you are going to Fight. The Defender is then automatically turned to face their Attacker if necessary.

# 2: Roll to Strike and Determine Outcome

Both models now make a 3 Dice Fight Test. The following Die Modifiers will apply to one or both models:

FIGHT MODIFIERS					
You are Charging	+1				
You are Attacking a Fortified Defender	-1				
Each unengaged enemy in Contact with you after the first	-1 per enemy Outnumbering you				

Both models then total up their Successes:

- If the Attacker scores more Successes, they win the Fight and strike the Defender.
- If the Defender scores more Successes, they win and strike the Attacker.
- If the totals are equal, the model with the single highest scoring Die wins by 1. Otherwise the Fight is a Draw and has no effect, the Action ends and the models remain engaged (in Contact) with each other.



The losing model (if there is one) is struck by their opponent and must make a Save exactly as for a Shooting attack, except that the score required is determined by the difference in total Successes.

For example, if you lost the Fight by two Successes, you would Save on a 6+.

#### Outnumbered

Only enemy models not in Contact (engaged) with another opposing model count towards the -1 Die Modifier in a Fight.

For example, an Outlaw is in Contact with three Lawmen, one of whom is also in Contact with an Apache. The Outlaw only suffers a -1 Die Modifier for the second Lawman not engaged by the Apache.

#### Fortified

A model in Contact with a linear obstacle such as a low wall or fence of less than 2" high and/or wide can be Attacked in a Fight, but is classed as Fortified to all Attackers on the other side of the obstacle.

A model that is higher up than their opponent – such as fighting from higher up a staircase or from horseback against a model on the ground – also counts as Fortified. You can only Fight a model at a different Elevation if the models are within 1" of each other, and both count as being in Contact for rules purposes.

#### Shove!

When a model wins a Fight, then instead of striking the loser they may decide to give them a 'shove' instead!

The loser is pushed directly away from the winner 1" in a straight line for every Success they lost by, and will halt upon Contact with another model or solid terrain element. Mounted opponents are shoved off their horse, and the animal will automatically flee the table if this happens.

Note however that if the Target is on a larger base than the shoving model, then the maximum distance it can be shoved is 1".

For example, high up on the balcony of the saloon, my Deputy wins a Fight with an Outlaw by a margin of 2, and declares a Shove. The hapless Outlaw is pushed 2" directly away from my Deputy, which takes him over the edge of the balcony, whereupon he plummets down into the street below!

#### **OPPOSITE The Crossroads Cult: Behemoth**



When a model Fails a Save, the amount by which the Save was Failed determines the Damage suffered by the model:

	DAMAG	E TABLE				
Amount Failed By	1–2	34 5+				
Damage Result	Shaken	Downed	Removed as a Casualty			

This is why you must always make a Save roll, even if it is impossible to actually achieve the target number!

For example, if required to make a 6+ Save and you rolled a 4, your model would be Shaken, as they Failed the Save roll by 2.

#### Shaken

A Shaken model may have suffered a flesh wound or simply had its nerves rattled. Whatever the reasons, it receives a suitable Token to show this.

While Shaken, a model treats its Grit Die as one Rank lower, to a minimum of D6.

Note that this penalty applies to all Tests and Saves, and lasts until either the end of the game or until the model somehow recovers from being Shaken or Downed.

So a Veteran would roll a D6 instead of a D8, for example.

Further Damage results of Shaken cause the model to be immediately Downed.

#### Downed

A model that is Downed might be seriously wounded, playing possum or simply keeping its head down while the lead is flying. Whatever the reason, it is placed prone on its front, back or side (or given a suitable Downed Token if you would rather not risk your model's paintjob!).

Whilst Down, a model can do nothing when Activated for the rest of the Phase except make a Move Action to crawl up to 2", and can be ignored by all models. It does not block LOS or movement in any way.

It may not be Shot at but can be Fought – in this case no Fight Test is made and the Downed model is immediately removed as a Casualty, as their Attacker puts the boot in! However, you cannot choose a Downed model as the Defender in a Fight if there are any other enemies in Contact with your model who are not themselves Downed.

If Downed while within 1" of the edge of an elevated position, the model will automatically fall off (see page 21)!



#### Dragging a Downed Comrade

A model on foot may Move into Contact with a friendly Downed model and drag them along for the remainder of the Action, treating this remaining movement as being in rough ground (with no further penalty if already in such terrain). Use the rules given for Bystanders on page 42 when dragging a comrade, except that you cannot use them as a human shield!

# LOOKOUT

Sometimes you may want your models to keep 'Lookout' and effectively hold their Action in order to React to whatever your opponents do next.

By expending an entire Action, a model may go on Lookout. This will end that model's Activation immediately, regardless of whether it had any Actions remaining to it, but instead of a Done Token, the model is given a Lookout Token instead.

Your models can of course use other Actions before going on Lookout – for example you could Move into position first and then go on Lookout!

This marker can be removed at the appropriate point during an enemy Activation in order to React. Once it Reacts, the Lookout Token is replaced by a Done Token.

A model can lose its Lookout marker before it gets to use it if it becomes Shaken, is Downed, if an enemy model Moves into Contact with it, or if it is Activated at any subsequent point. In these cases the Lookout Token is immediately replaced by a Done Token.


A model loses its Lookout Token at the start of its next Activation at no penalty. Until then it retains its Lookout Token. In this way it is possible for a model to be on Lookout from one Game Turn to the next.

#### **Declaring Reactions**

When an Active model – henceforth referred to as the 'triggering model' – declares an Action (that is, before they start to resolve the Action), one Passive model that is on Lookout and that has LOS to it may declare a Reaction.

In games involving three or more Posses, only one eligible model per Passive Posse may try to React in this way.

Note also that it is not possible to React to a Reaction!

#### **Resolving a Reaction**

First, all Reacting models declare what they want to do.

If several opposing models all wish to React at the same time, each player involved makes a 1 Die Reaction Test on behalf of their own model. These models will then resolve their chosen Reactions in descending order of scores (from highest score to lowest), regardless of whether you score a Success or not. In case of a tie, the higher Ranked model wins; if still tied, those models roll again.

Reacting models may make either a single Shoot (targeted at the triggering model, with no Spotting Test required) or Move Action, using all the usual rules. In this way you can potentially open fire at an enemy before they can escape, Disengage from a Fight, dive for Cover, or just be quicker on the draw than your opponent!

A Reacting model may make a Move Reaction to bring itself into Contact with the triggering model; you cannot Move into Contact with any other enemy through use of a Reaction.

If using a Reaction to Disengage, you do so automatically with no Disengage Test required.

Once a model's Reaction is complete, that model receives a Done Token, if applicable, and the next model in sequence makes their Reaction if still able to do so.

Models are obliged to try to complete their declared Reaction to the best of their ability. If unable to complete their Reaction for some reason, a model will remain on Lookout.

Once all eligible Reactions are complete, the triggering model then completes their Action if still able to do so.

#### **OPPOSITE Unwelcome Guests: Sasquatch**



#### AN EXAMPLE OF REACTIONS

My Deputy is about to Move off the table to secure some Loot, and my opponents Andy and Tony aren't too keen on this happening!

Both have models eligible to React at this point, and both declare a Shoot Reaction with the single model of their choice.

Both Reacting models now make their Reaction Tests. Tony scores a 6, while Andy's model gets a 1.

Tony therefore resolves his Reaction first, and mercilessly fills my poor Deputy full of lead – Downed before he can escape!

Tony's model then swaps its Lookout Token for a Done Token.

Andy's model would now get to React. However, since Downed models are not viable Targets, he may not Shoot, so in this case Andy's model remains on Lookout. Finally, my poor Deputy gets to crawl 2" towards the table edge – so near, yet so far!

## THE NPC PHASE

It is possible that your game may feature models that are not directly controlled by a player, and that do not belong to any Posse. These models are referred to as NPCs (Non-Player Creatures).

Such models include Innocent Bystanders just going about their daily routine (before the Posses show up, of course), and terrifying Supernatural Creatures that have decided your battlefield is their new hunting ground!

In this Phase, all these 'rogue' models get to do something and count as Active, while the Posses are all deemed to be Passive (and so may declare Reactions against them if appropriate!).

The first thing to do is perform a Roll-Off, with the highest-rolling player deciding the exact order in which the NPCs will act. There is however a strict sequence this player must obey:

- Innocent Bystanders and scenario-specific NPCs (where applicable) get to act first.
- Supernatural Creatures then get to act.

Exactly what the various NPCs can and cannot do is described in the relevant section of the rules.

Innocent Bystanders can be found on page 42. Supernatural Creatures can be found on page 116.

## THE RECOVERY PHASE

The Recovery Phase represents a split-second lull in the fighting – the Posses quickly take stock of the situation and regroup, before entering the fray once again.

One at a time, each Posse resolves the following sequence – the order is unimportant, so long as each Posse gets to do so.

### 1: Remove Done Tokens

Every model that has a Done Token removes this now.

### 2: Make Recovery Tests

The player makes a 3 Dice Recovery Test for each Downed model in their Posse and counts the number of Successes they get.

If there are any friendly non-Downed models in Contact with the model making this Test, they receive a +1 Die Modifier. Note that this is a flat +1, regardless of how many friends are in Contact! A Shaken model that is also Downed will suffer the Grit Penalty for being Shaken as normal.

- **O Successes:** The model succumbs to its wounds, falls unconscious or is otherwise unable to continue fighting it becomes a Casualty and is removed from the game. Note that it is worth no Victory Points to any opponent in this case!
- 1-2 Successes: The model remains Downed.
- **3+ Successes:** The model summons reserves of courage or regains consciousness and is able to rejoin the fight it stands back up but is Shaken.

#### **3: Bottle Checks**

Each Posse checks whether it needs to make a Bottle Check at this point to see if it keeps fighting.

Sometimes discretion is the better part of valour. When all your comrades are down and the bullets are flying thick and fast, even the most foolhardy of souls will think about heading for the hills! Your Posse must make a Bottle Check if it is reduced to half the number of models it started the game with or fewer (rounded down). Models which are Downed do not count as 'on the table' for these purposes.

For example, Stuart's Posse started the game with nine models. It is the Recovery Phase of Turn 5, and the Posse has lost two Casualties and currently has three Downed models. With only four models left on their feet, Stuart's Posse must start making Bottle Checks!

Your Boss must make the Bottle Check if able to do so – this is simply an unmodified 3 Dice Nerve Test – on behalf of the entire Posse. If the Boss is Downed or not on the table, then the model with the next highest Rank must make the Check, but on only 1 Die!

- If at least 1 Success is scored, the Posse stands and fights on.
- If no Successes are scored, then the entire Posse 'Bottles Out' and all its remaining models are removed from play (including riderless horses)! No Disengage Tests are required and any Loot, Bystanders, and so on that these models held are left behind within 1" of the model's last position, in any spot that was visible to the fleeing model at that point.

If all Posses Bottle Out in the same Turn, the game is a draw.

In a Campaign, models that are not Downed do not have to roll for Injuries if their Posse Bottles Out.

During a Campaign game, a player may also choose to voluntarily Fail a Bottle Check at this point if they wish, in order to preserve the lives of their models.



# The Advanced Rules

## **MOUNTED MODELS**

Mounted models have a 40mm diameter base.

A model on horseback moves 6" but cannot climb or fit through small windows and doors – as determined by common sense!

#### **Mounting and Dismounting**

The rider may mount up while in Contact with their horse – or dismount into Contact with the horse – at the start of any Move Action. They are then free to continue moving at the appropriate rate. A model cannot both mount and dismount their horse during a single Action!

A model may alternatively voluntarily drop off an elevated position into the saddle of its horse at any point of its Move, if the animal is positioned correctly and is within 1" of the elevation. As long as the model lands safely, it can ride away as part of the same Action – simply deduct any movement it made up to that point from its remaining move.

While dismounted, a model's horse remains in place. If another model other than its owner moves into Contact with it, the horse immediately gallops away and is removed from play (but is available for the next game in a Campaign).

A dismounted model may lead its own horse as it Moves and if it is in Contact (bearing in mind that a horse cannot climb or fit through small gaps, and will halt at such obstructions) by simply placing the horse in Contact with the model after it finishes its Move.

#### Horses in Combat

In a Fight, enemy models must nominate a horse's rider as the Defender in a Fight – they cannot attack the horse itself!

A horse may, however, be the Target of any Shooting Attack instead of its rider – it counts as a Novice and immediately becomes a Casualty should it Fail any Save, but is worth no VP.

In a Campaign, the owner must then immediately roll a D6. On a 1 the horse is dead; otherwise it survives and is recovered after the game.

If a horse becomes a Casualty, any model riding it is placed in the spot it occupied and must then make a 5+ Save.

A rider that is Downed is forcibly dismounted in the spot this occurred, and their horse immediately flees the battlefield.

If a model becomes a Casualty, their horse immediately flees but suffers no other effects.



## DYNAMITE

Some models may carry sticks of Dynamite.

Each stick can be thrown once per game as a Shoot Action, at a visible target point up to 8" away from the thrower. This does not have to be an enemy model, it could be a point on the ground or through a window, for example. Place a 'TNT' marker on the chosen point if necessary; I use a 20mm diameter plastic base for this.

Now make an unmodified 1 Die Shooting Test for the thrower. If you score a Success, the Dynamite explodes centred over the target point. If you do not, the number shown on the Die determines what happens:

- 1. The Dynamite explodes centred over the thrower!
- 2. The Dynamite moves D6" directly towards the thrower from the target point in a straight line and then explodes.
- 3. The Dynamite moves D6" directly away from the thrower (start measuring from the target point) in a straight line and then explodes.
- 4. The Dynamite was a dud and has no effect. It still counts as having been used.

#### Ka-Boom!

When the Dynamite explodes, all models (friend or foe!) whose centre of base is fully within 3" of the target point must make a 7+ Save, and all other models partially within 3" of the target point must Succeed a 1 Die Reaction Test or make a 7+ Save.

A mounted model that is caught in the blast makes two Saves, on behalf of both horse and rider.

#### **Good Shot!**

A model on Lookout may make a special Reaction (following the usual rules), and try to Shoot the Dynamite in the thrower's hand! This is worked out as a normal Shooting Attack, with no Spotting Test required. However, there is a -1 Die Modifier for firing at such a small object. If successful, the Dynamite explodes centred on the thrower!



**OPPOSITE The Twilight Order: Templar of the Order** 



#### Setting Dynamite

Instead of throwing their Dynamite, an unengaged model on foot may 'set' it down at any point during a Move Action. Place a TNT marker anywhere within 1" and visible to the model.

Any model may subsequently Shoot at this marker as if it were an enemy model and following all normal rules, except:

- There is an additional -1 Die Modifier for Shooting at such a small Target.
- No Spotting Roll is required.

If the shooter Hits successfully, the marker explodes exactly as described above, with the blast centred over the marker. Once the explosion is resolved, the marker is removed immediately.

Similarly, if a TNT marker is within the blast radius of exploding Dynamite or the fire corridor of a Sawn-Off Shotgun, it will explode automatically – it is possible to set off a chain-reaction in this way!

## **INNOCENT BYSTANDERS**

Before each game, roll D3+2. There are that many Bystanders on the table (between three and five).

These are placed one at a time, with each player taking turns to place a Bystander. Each Bystander must be placed no further than 12" from the centre of the table, and no closer than 2" to another Bystander.

#### **Bystander Behaviour**

In each NPC Phase, every Bystander not being held by another model Moves 4" directly away from the closest visible model, ignoring other Bystanders.

If this is not possible for any reason, it instead Moves 4" in a random direction. To establish a random direction you can use a special spinner or a Die marked with arrows, available from many online suppliers. Another way is to roll a D8 or D10 next to the model – the direction the upper, triangular face of the Die is pointing is the direction the model Moves.

Bystanders are slowed by rough ground but will never climb or leap – they will either Move around such obstructions, or halt as soon as they reach them.

Bystanders will leave the table and never return if their movement carries them off the edge.

Finally, Bystanders will halt 1" away from another model if their movement would take them into Contact.

#### **Bystanders and Other Models**

A model from any Posse may move into Contact with a Bystander during a Move. This Bystander is deemed to have been 'grabbed' and held by the model until released. A model cannot do this if already holding a Bystander.

A mounted model, or one leading a horse, may grab a Bystander – it is assumed the Bystander is slung over the horse's back or sitting in front of the rider.

While grabbed, the Bystander is moved along with the holding model and can be placed in any position in Contact with the holding model after the Move. In this way, the Bystander can provide Cover for more unscrupulous individuals!

A model cannot climb or leap while holding a Bystander.

If an enemy model moves into Contact with the holding model, the Bystander is released 1" away.

The same occurs if the holding model is Downed, or Bottles Out.

A model may voluntarily release a Bystander at any point of a Move Action.

#### Human Shields

If a model is Shot at while holding a Bystander and they Fail their Save (or would be allowed no Save), then they may instead remove the Bystander from play but count as passing the Save automatically. Obviously, no true Lawman would ever stoop to such low-down tactics!

#### **Attacking Bystanders**

A model may Shoot at a Bystander or Fight them, as if they were an enemy model.

Where necessary, you should have the player to your left roll on the behalf of a Bystander.



Bystanders are considered Novices (Grit D6) and will not strike their opponent if they win a Fight, but will instead automatically Disengage in a random direction with no Disengage Test required.

Finally, a Bystander that Fails to Save automatically becomes a Casualty and is removed from play – it does not become Shaken or Downed – and is worth no Victory Points.

## **UNEXPECTED EVENTS**

You may use these rules to add even more random happenings to your games. If two or more identical cards are revealed during the Action Phase, immediately roll a D6 on the Unexpected Events table below.

A maximum of one Event may occur per Game Turn, regardless of how many times identical cards get revealed! Innocent Bystanders and NPCs are ignored when determining which models are affected by an Event.

UNEXPECTED EVENTS TABLE			
D6 Roll	Event		
1	'Ornery Critter! You never know what might be lurking under the nearest rock Randomly select a model on the table that is not Downed or engaged — it must make an immediate 5+ Save.		
2	Armed Civilians. The locals have finally had enough! Randomly select one area of terrain or building that has no models within it. Make an unmodified 2 Dice Shooting Test with Grit D6 against all visible models within 6" of the edge of this terrain. No Reactions are allowed against these Attacks!		
3	Dust Storm. A blinding dust storm rolls in from the Prairie. Visibility drops to a maximum of 12" until the end of the Turn.		
4	Bad Omen. Some days it just ain't worth gettin' outta bed Randomly select one model on the tal that is not Downed — until the end of this Turn, this model suffers an additional -1 Save Modifier.		
5	Hero of the Hour. Time to show 'em who's boss! Randomly select one model on the table that is not Downed — it may immediately Activate for any one Action its owner wishes and that it could normall make (even if already marked as Done).		
6	Lucky Find. Well, that was a stroke of luck! Randomly select one model on the table that is not Downed or engaged and roll a D6 to see what they have stumbled upon (a model can carry a maximum of three Weapons): 1: Nothing 2—3: Shotgun 4—5: Repeater Rifle 6: One stick of Dynamite		

**OPPOSITE** The Crossroads Cult: Hellhound

## UNUSUAL TERRAIN

We have already taken a look at the various kinds of area terrain and rough ground you might find on the battlefield, and how it impacts our models. However, you may also like to introduce the following rules for Unusual Terrain.

If you decide to do so, you will first need to ensure that all players agree to their use and that everybody knows what each piece of terrain represents on the table before the game begins!

### **Explosive** Terrain

This includes barrels or crates of gunpowder or TNT, grouped together on a 30–50mm base.

A model may specifically nominate such terrain as the Target of a Shoot Action, as if it were an enemy model. However, no Spotting Test is required, even if it is not the closest Target!

If you score a Hit, the player to your left makes an appropriate Save on a D8 on behalf of the terrain – if this is Failed, the terrain explodes exactly like a stick of Dynamite, and all models within  $2^{"}$  are caught in the blast.

If a TNT marker or other piece of exploding terrain is within the blast radius of the explosion, then it too will explode automatically – it is possible to set off a chain-reaction in this way!

Once the explosion is resolved, remove the Explosive Terrain piece(s) from play.

#### **Cactus Patches**

This is an area of rough ground, represented by several Cacti models in a roughly 5" diameter area (an old CD or DVD is ideal).

In addition to the normal rules for rough ground and area terrain, any model that declares a Move Action whilst within a Cactus Patch must first make a 5+ Save.



# **Playing a Game**

## **BUILDING A POSSE FOR ONE-OFF GAMES**

For one-off games, I have included two different ways of creating your Posse – you should agree which method to use with your opponents before play, and all players must use the same method!

The Basic method allows you to quickly create a Posse and is ideal for 'friendly' or demonstration games to teach new players the ropes.

The Advanced method is for those who prefer a more 'competitive' play-style, and for veteran players who are familiar with the full scope of the rules.

#### **Basic Posse Creation**

#### Decide Maximum Posse Size.

You should first agree with your opponents the maximum number of models allowed per Posse – between six and ten will give a good-sized game!

#### **Recruit Models**

Take a blank Roster Sheet and fill out your Posse's pertinent details as you go.

Each player starts with one Hero – this model is your Posse's Boss. The rest of your models will be Novices.

You may trade in Novices for Veterans on a two-for-one basis.

For example, in a six-model game I trade in four Novices for two Veterans; my Posse therefore consists of one Hero, two Veterans and one Novice.

If you are using the rules in the 'Dracula's America' chapter, you may align your Posse with one of the Factions given on pages 100–114 at this point – any unique model types allowed (such as the Crusaders of the Twilight Order) are free upgrades for any of your eligible existing models.

#### Arm and Equip Models

Models are armed only with the weapons actually depicted in their hands or in holsters – however, only one stick of Dynamite is allowed per Posse, and no more than two of your models may have the same Weapon – the exception being Pistols – your Posse can contain as many Pistols as you like!

For example, no more than two models in your Posse may have a Rifle, and no more than two may have a Shotgun; however, all four models could also have a Pistol if they have one in a holster!

47



#### **Advanced Posse Creation**

#### Decide Dollar Limit

The first thing to do is agree with your opponents on the Dollar Limit you wish to use for the coming game. I recommend \$100, but you can always try more or less than this. Experience tells me that around \$200 is about the uppermost Limit for a quick and balanced game.

The total cost of the models, Weapons, and so on in your Posse may not exceed the agreed-upon Limit – though you may of course spend less than this.

Take a blank Roster Sheet and fill out your Posse's pertinent details as you go.

If you are using the rules in the 'Dracula's America' chapter, you may align your Posse with one of the Factions given on pages 100–114 at this point – any unique model types allowed (such as the Crusaders of the Twilight Order) are free upgrades for any of your eligible existing models.

For example, Ian's Cowboys are affiliated to the Red Hand Coven; he purchases two Veterans and upgrades these models to Broodkin for free.

#### **Recruit Models**

Each player gets a single Hero Rank model for free – note that only the model is free, and you will still need to pay for any Weapons, Gear and so on. This model is your Posse's Boss.

You may then start spending \$ on Recruiting additional Veteran and Novice models to your Posse – you must have a minimum of three models and a maximum of ten.

- Each Novice costs you \$4
- Each Veteran costs you \$10

You may also include Hired Guns (see pages 75–78 and pages 123–126) by paying the appropriate Hire fee listed (ignore the Retainer). Each Hired Gun can only be included once per Posse!

However, only a third of your models may be Hired Guns (that is, one in every three models).

#### Arm and Equip Models

Once you have the models you like, you can then start equipping them using the costs listed on page 79. Unless specifically noted, each model must be bought at least one Weapon.

Each model may be bought a maximum of three Weapons – these should ideally be depicted on the model.

The other caveat is that no more than two of your models may have the same Weapon, with the exception being Pistols – your Posse can contain as many Pistols as you like!

For example, no more than two models in your Posse may have a Rifle, and no more than two may have a Shotgun; however, all four models could also have a Pistol if they have one in a holster!

You may also purchase Gear and horses at the cost listed. However, a model may be bought a maximum of three such items in total.

#### Add Skills

Finally, you may further customise your models by purchasing Skills for them from the lists on pages 68–69.

Each Skill costs \$2 for a Novice, \$4 for a Veteran and \$6 for a Hero.

The second Skill purchased for the same model costs an additional \$2, the third Skill costs an additional \$3, and so on.

For example, I pay \$4 to buy a Veteran the Trick-Shooter Skill. I then decide to buy the same model the Hawkeye Skill – this costs me 6 (\$4 + \$2). I then decide to buy this model the Deadeye Skill, for a further 7 (\$4 + \$3). This extremely expensive model is now also a rather lethal marksman!





## **CHOOSE A SCENARIO AND SET UP THE TABLE**

You can either agree on which scenario to play, or roll a D8 on the table below to randomly choose one:

SCENARIO TABLE			
D8 Roll	Scenario	Notes	
1	Stake a Claim	The Posses vie for important territory.	
2	A Fistful of Loot	The Posses compete for valuable Loot.	
3	Shootout!	A meeting between rival Bosses in neutral territory becomes a fight to the death!	
4	The Getaway	Can your Posse escape with their Loot?	
5	Showdown	A standard face-off between rival Posses.	
6	Bonanza!	The Posses race to find a vital item hidden somewhere in the local area.	
7	Escalation	A chance meeting between rival Posses soon erupts into a pitched gunfight!	
8	Player's choice	Roll-Off, or lowest Infamy chooses in a Campaign.	

Some scenarios require specific scenery or other unique features, so read each one carefully and ensure that you have the necessary elements to play. Otherwise, you are free to set up the table however you wish. Try to ensure a varied mix of terrain with different heights and types to create a tactically interesting game!

Once this is done, you may roll to see how many Bystanders there are on the table – these are then placed as described on page 42.

Each Posse must now Deploy onto the table - see page 52.



## TEAM GAMES

Certain scenarios may require two opposing Teams, rather than every Posse being out for themselves!

- Each player on a Team still has their own Deck of cards, and the Activation sequence is resolved as normal.
- Unless the scenario states otherwise, Teams must share a Deployment Zone wherever possible, and cannot Attack or be Attacked by members of the same Team. If using the optional Agendas rule, it is probably best if each Team has a single Agenda!
- Models on the same Team treat each other as 'friendly' for all rules purposes.
- Each Posse on a Team will however still have their own Boss, and must make Bottle Checks separately from their Teammates.

## DEPLOYMENT

After setting out terrain, the players Roll-Off. In descending order (highest score to lowest), each player chooses their Deployment Zone and sets up their Posse within it. Each Deployment Zone must be directly opposite at least one other Deployment Zone wherever possible.

#### **Deployment Zones**

A Deployment Zone is an 8" x 8" square extending outward from the corner of the table where two edges meet.

Where you have between five and eight opposing Posses taking part, have four Posses choose corner Deployment Zones as normal. The remaining Posses have Deployment Zones extending 4" to either side of the centre point of each table edge and 8" into the table. Obviously, you may need to 'fudge' things a little in a mutually agreeable manner depending on the scenario you are playing!

I recommend that where possible you ensure that Lines of Sight are blocked to varying degrees between Deployment Zones (especially on smaller-sized tables), as you will find the game much more interesting if the Posses have to manoeuvre a bit first in order to draw a bead on their opponents!

Once all players have chosen their Deployment Zone and placed their models, the game can begin.

## AGENDAS

To add some spice to proceedings, you may decide to use the following optional rules for Agendas. After all Posses have Deployed, each player rolls a D6 on the table below to determine their own Agenda for the game. Note that some Agendas are easier to achieve than others, and this is deliberate – life on the Frontier ain't always fair!

AGENDAS TABLE			
D6 Roll	Agenda	Notes	
1	Vendetta	Your Boss holds a grudge against a Rival — choose one enemy Boss to be your Rival and declare this out loud. If your Boss causes their Rival to become a Casualty before the end of the game, you earn $+2$ VP.	
2	Divided Loyalties	Your Boss has some kind of 'understanding' with another Boss — choose one enemy Boss and declare who it is out loud. If the chosen model is still in play (even if Down) at the end of the game, you earn $+2$ VP. Note that you will not earn VP if the chosen model leaves the table for any reason.	
3	The VIP	Your Posse gets a 'VIP' model that follows all the rules for Bystanders, but starts the game being held by one of your eligible Deployed models and does not add a card to your Hand. If the VIP model is still on the table and is currently held by one of your models at the end of the game, you earn $+2$ VP. The VIP is worth no additional VP to your opponents if captured by them!	
4	Blaze of Glory	You must secretly choose one of your own Deployed models and make a note of it. If this model is Downed or a Casualty by the end of the game, you can confirm this to earn $\pm 1$ VP.	
5	The Message	You must secretly choose one of your own Deployed models to be the Messenger, and make a note of it. If the Messenger is Downed or Bottles Out, the message is revealed and left behind as a Loot counter, following the rules given on page 55. The Posse carrying the message at the end of the game earns +1 VP.	
6	Dead or Alive!	You must nominate a model in your Posse as being 'Wanted' from amongst those Deployed, and declare this out loud. In a Campaign, this must be the model with the highest individual Infamy, or your choice if several models share the highest Infamy. If your Wanted model is still in play and not Downed at the end of the game, you earn $+2$ VP.	



## WINNING THE GAME AND SPECIAL SCENARIO RULES

## Victory Points (VP)

At the end of the game, the Posse with the most VP is the winner. Many scenarios and Agendas have unique ways of earning VP, but the following scoring method always applies unless noted otherwise.

Each enemy model (not NPC) becoming a Casualty as a direct result of your model's Attacks is worth a variable number of VP, depending on the victim's Rank:

- Novices are worth 1 VP
- Veterans are worth 2 VP
- Heroes are worth 3 VP

Each player should keep track of their current VP as the game progresses, either on their Roster or on a piece of scrap paper.

#### Sudden Death!

A game will end automatically if there is only a single Posse standing at the start of any Turn (if all their enemies are Down, have become a Casualty or have Bottled Out). The remaining Posse is the winner, regardless of VP.

### **Loot Counters**

Some scenarios require the Posses to either gather or hold onto Loot. This is represented by Loot counters roughly 20mm in diameter.

Any model can pick up a Loot counter for free simply by Moving over it, as long as the model is not Down. Each model can carry up to two counters at a time.

If a model is Downed or Bottles Out, it immediately drops any Loot it is carrying on the spot it occupied!

#### Leaving the Table

Some scenarios may require a model to leave play via a specific area of the table.

A model may only voluntarily leave the table in those scenarios that specifically allow this. This is done simply by Moving off the table via the appropriate edge. A model that leaves the game cannot return, but does not count as a Casualty or as

**OPPOSITE The Dark Confederacy: Die-Hard** 

having Bottled Out.

## **SCENARIO 1: STAKE A CLAIM**

#### Set-Up

Before Deployment, mark three elements of terrain as the 'Objectives'. Use a marker of some kind to make it clear which these are.

Each player takes it in turns to nominate one Objective – these elements must be within 12" of the centre of the table.

#### Winning

In addition to the usual scoring method, at the end of the game each Objective that has more of your models (Downed models do not count!) than the enemy within 1" of it is claimed by your Posse and scores +3 VP.

If an Objective has equal numbers of viable opposing models within 1" of it, it is contested and is worth 1 VP to each contesting Posse!

## **SCENARIO 2: A FISTFUL OF LOOT**

#### Set-Up

Before Deployment, place 1D3 +3 Loot counters on the table.

Each player takes it in turns to place one counter at a time – these cannot be within 4" of any Deployment Zone or within 2" of another counter.

#### Winning

In addition to the usual scoring method, at the end of the game each Loot counter held by your Posse is worth +2 VP.

## **SCENARIO 3: SHOOTOUT!**

#### Set-Up

There should be no terrain within 6" of the centre of the table.

After Rolling-Off to establish Deployment Zones, each player must Deploy their Boss and up to two other models of their choice at ground level and within 6" of the centre of the table, no closer than 2" to any enemy model.

These models start the game with Done Tokens.

The remaining models in each Posse are then Deployed using the normal rules.

## Winning

In addition to the usual VP scoring method, at the end of the game each player earns an additional +1 VP for every enemy Boss their Posse specifically causes to become a Casualty during the game. This is in addition to the usual VP earned for a model of the appropriate Rank (so a Veteran Boss is worth 3 VP rather than 2).

## **SCENARIO 4: THE GETAWAY**

## Set-Up

Set up as for a regular game. Half of your models that are on foot (your choice which ones), rounded up, are carrying Loot counters.

## **Special Rules**

Models carrying Loot may freely Move off the table via an enemy Deployment Zone in this scenario.

## Winning

The normal VP scoring method is not used in this scenario. Instead, at the end of the game, each Posse earns +2 VP for every Loot counter they got off the table via an enemy Deployment Zone, or +1 VP for each model carrying Loot and still on the table at the end of the game.

Agendas will still earn you VP as normal!

# SCENARIO 5: SHOWDOWN

Set up as for a regular game, using the standard VP scoring rules.





## SCENARIO 6: BONANZA!

### Set-Up

Before Deployment you must set up four terrain elements on the table, no further than 12" from the centre of the table.

The Loot is hidden in one of these terrain elements, so it's a good idea to mark them out in some way.

### **Special Rules**

The first time a model from any Posse enters one of these elements, roll a D6. On a 6 they find the Loot. This model is now given a Loot counter.

If you roll a 1–5, the element did not hide the Loot and it cannot be searched again by any model. Remove its marker to show this.

If the first three elements did not contain the Loot, the fourth one definitely does and the Loot will be automatically claimed by the first model to enter it!

#### Winning

In addition to the usual scoring method, at the end of the game the Posse carrying the Loot earns +4 VP.

## **SCENARIO 7: ESCALATION**

### Set-Up

The players Roll-Off, with the highest scorer Deploying half their Posse (rounding down, but must include their Boss) within a chosen Deployment Zone. The rest of their Posse is kept off-table.

The other Posses then do the same, in descending order.

#### **Special Rules**

Once per Game Turn except for the first, when it is your turn to make an Activation, instead of Activating models normally, you may bring on any one or two of your remaining off-table models from your Deployment Zone following the usual Activation rules (so two models on a Dual Activation and one on a Solo Activation). Models arriving in this way must perform a single Move as their first Action, measured from the table edge.

### Winning

This scenario uses the usual VP scoring method.

**OPPOSITE The Congregation: Temple Snake** 





Playing a Campaign is without a doubt the most rewarding way to experience *Shadows of the West*!

Watching your Posse grow from a bunch of greenhorns to a grizzled and well-equipped band of Heroes (or struggle gallantly against the odds) can be incredibly satisfying, and most importantly it will create memorable stories and characters for you to re-live with your gaming buddies for a long time to come.

The important thing to remember is that – as in all the best stories – not everything will go your way; but you will get more fun out of a Campaign (and undoubtedly more respect from your fellow players) if you relax and stick with your Posse come hell or high water, seeing their tale through to the bitter end. You may be surprised at how it all turns out!

It's time to carve out your own legend in Dracula's America.

# **Campaign Posses** BUILDING A CAMPAIGN POSSE

A Campaign Posse always starts out with one Veteran and five Novices.

The Veteran is your Posse's Boss. Should your Boss die later in the Campaign, your new Boss is always the next eligible model with the highest Grit in your Posse; where this is tied, you may choose who becomes the new Boss. The new Boss only assumes their new status between games, never during a game.

You now have \$22 to equip your models with Weapons (not other Gear or horses at this point). These must be shown on the models and be from the Basic Weapons list on page 28 (so no Buffalo Guns!), and every model must have at least one Weapon.

**OPPOSITE The Red Hand Coven: Carpathian Guard** 





Finally, no more than two models may be given the same Weapon, with the exception being Pistols – your Posse can contain as many Pistols as you like!

Fill in each model's details – their Grit, Weapons, and so on – on a blank Roster Sheet.

Any unspent cash goes in your 'Stash'. There is an appropriate space on your Roster Sheet to record this.

You should also give your Posse and each model in it a suitable name at this point – some players even go so far as to name their favoured Weapons, too (my Sheriff's Heavy Pistol, Bessie, was more feared than the man himself)!

## **RETIRING YOUR POSSE**

You may voluntarily retire your Posse at the end of any game – you might do so because your Posse has suffered heavy losses, or too many Lasting Injuries to be effective (and more importantly, to be fun to play). You may immediately create a completely new Posse at this point; however, it takes no part in the rest of the Campaign Phase in which it was created.

62

# The Campaign Turn

A Campaign lasts a set number of Campaign Turns, agreed upon by all participants beforehand; around 6–12 Campaign Turns is about right.

At the end of the final Campaign Turn, whoever has the highest total Infamy rating (see page 84) is the winner.

How long a Campaign Turn should last in 'real time' depends on how often you can get together to play, and also how much time you have to spare.

I have found one Campaign Turn per week is good for player-groups who have lots of other commitments (and let's face it: who doesn't?); this lets you play your games and then spend the rest of the week adding new models to your Posses.

Of course, it is also possible to play multiple Campaign Turns in a single day, if time and real life aren't as much of an issue!

Each Turn follows the sequence below, with each player ideally taking a turn to resolve everything in a Campaign Phase before everybody moves on to the next. It is also desirable for at least one other player to be present when resolving Phases 1–4 of the Campaign Turn.

- 1. Challenge Phase
- 2. Injury Phase
- 3. Advancement Phase
- 4. Income Phase
- 5. Purchase Phase
- 6. Infamy Phase

**Important:** though you do not necessarily have to wait for the other players in your group to complete a Campaign Turn, you should ensure that no one player plays through more than the agreed-upon number of Campaign Turns!

# **Challenge** Phase

Starting with the Posse with lowest Infamy (Roll-Off if there is a tie), challenge one opponent of your choice to a game! You cannot challenge somebody who has already been challenged this Phase unless no other eligible opponent is available, in which case you may either play each opponent separately or play a multiplayer game as the players wish.

If there are three or more players, you can instead opt to play a single multiplayer game if all players agree.

Once your game has been completed, you can move on to the Injury Phase.

63

# **Injury Phase**

If a model ends the game as a Casualty or Down, you must discover their fate in this Phase.

A model that ends a game Shaken will automatically recover, and suffers no further effects.

## CASUALTIES

If a model ends the game as a Casualty, it must roll a D10 for Injury on the table below.

## **DOWNED MODELS**

If a model ends the game Down, roll one Grit Die on their behalf. A Success means that the model makes a full recovery and suffers no further effects, while a Failure means they have potentially sustained an Injury and must roll on the Injury table below.

INJURY TABLE			
D10 Roll	Injury	Notes	
1	Dead!	The model has died of their wounds, and is removed from your Posse's Roster. A dead model takes all Weapons, Gear and so on with them when they die. If your Boss dies, the next eligible model immediately takes over the Posse as described on page 60.	
2	Lasting Injury — Old Wound*	The model must roll one Grit Die before Deployment at the start of each game from now on. If the roll is Failed, the model begins that game already Shaken.	
3	Lasting Injury — One-Eyed*	The model suffers a -1 Die Modifier on all Shooting Tests from now on.	
4	Lasting Injury — Limp*	If on foot, the model can only make one Move Action per Activation from now on, regardless of how many Actions it has.	
5	Lasting Injury – Weakened*	The model suffers a -1 Die Modifier on all Fight Tests from now on.	
6	Laid-Up	The model may take no part in the remainder of this Campaign Phase (for example, they gain no EXP, cannot take part in Encounters, and so on), but will recover and be available at the start of the next one.	
7—9	Close Call	The model makes a full recovery and suffers no further effects.	
10	True Grit!	The model makes a full recovery and earns 1 EXP in the process — this is added to its EXP total immediately. See page 65 for more about EXP.	

automatically treated as 'Dead'.

# **Advancement Phase**

Each time a model survives a game (that is, they took part and did not die!), it has the chance of Advancing and improving its abilities.

## **ADVANCE ROLLS**

For each eligible model, roll its Grit Die and add its current Experience (EXP) total, if any.

So a Veteran model with 1 EXP will roll a D8 and add 1 to the score, for example.

If you score a total of 6 for a Novice, 8 for a Veteran or 10 for a Hero (or higher), that model has Advanced.

You must now roll a D6 on the model's behalf on the Advance table below, to see what they have learned.

When a model successfully Advances, any unspent EXP it had at that point is lost.

For example, a Novice with 2 EXP rolls a 5. It uses 1 EXP to increase this to a 6, allowing it to Advance. The remaining 1 EXP is lost by the model.

A model that does not Advance earns one point of EXP instead. Keep track of a model's current EXP total on your Roster Sheet.

ADVANCE TABLE		
D6 Roll	Advance	Notes
1	Preferred Skill	Choose a Skill List and select any one Skill of your choice from it.
2—5	Random Skill	Choose a Skill List and roll a D6 to randomly generate a Skill from it.
6	Rank-Up	The model's Rank increases by 1.

## RANK-UP

A model rolling this result progresses to the next Rank of Grit, in the following order:

• Novice > Veteran > Hero

A model that is already a Hero treats a 'Rank-Up' result as a 'Random Skill' result instead.



## **RANDOM SKILL**

Choose one of the three Skill lists (Shooting, Fighting or Gumption) and roll a D6 to see which Skill the model learns.

A model can only know each Skill once – if you ever roll up a duplicate Skill, the model may instead choose one remaining Skill from the same list.



#### A NOTE FOR THOSE PLAYING A DRACULA'S AMERICA CAMPAIGN

When you join a Faction, your Posse gains unique types of model such as the Broodkin of the Red Hand Coven. These models often start out with one or more of the Skills listed below – in these cases, as already stated, they cannot learn these Skills again! However, some unique models will automatically gain a Skill only during certain circumstances.

For example, a Skinwalker that transforms into its Beast-Form gains the Fearsome Skill.

In such cases, they may learn the same Skill again due to Advancing. To continue our example, a Skinwalker who gains the Fearsome Skill due to Advancement gains its benefits while in Human Form. When it transforms into its

Advancement gains its benefits while in Human Form. When it transforms into its Beast Form, it gains Fearsome again – however as the model already has the Fearsome Skill then there is no additional effect.

**OPPOSITE** The Skinwalker Tribes: Brave



## **PREFERRED SKILL**

Choose one of the three Skill lists (Shooting, Fighting or Gumption) and pick any one Skill you like from that List. Remember that a model can only have one of each Skill!

SHOOTING SKILLS TABLE		
D6 Roll	Shooting Skill	Notes
1	Trigger- Happy	This model may Shoot the same Weapon twice in a single Activation, following all usual rules. This Skill cannot be used as part of a Reaction, and cannot be combined with the Gunslinger Skill.
2	Gunslinger	If armed with two Pistol-Class Weapons, this model may fire both as a single Shoot Action, against different Targets if you wish. Resolve each Attack separately, following all the usual rules. This Skill cannot be used as part of a Reaction. Sixguns may not fire twice, and LeMat Pistols cannot use their once-per-game ability when using this Skill.
3	Hawkeye	This model may re-roll a Failed Spotting Test, and ignores the usual rules for Shooting into a Fight — in this case, it may freely pick its Target.
4	Gunsmith	This model may re-roll any Failed Jamming Check.
5	Trick Shooter	When it Shoots with a Rifle-Class Weapon, this model ignores either the Long Range or the Cover Die Modifier. Declare which Modifier you are ignoring before making the shot.
6	Deadeye	This model gains an extra +1 Die Modifier on its Shooting Tests.

FIGHTING SKILLS TABLE		
D6 Roll	Fighting Skill	Notes
1	Close Work	This model may use an unjammed Pistol-Class Weapon during a Fight to gain a $+1$ Die Modifier. Using two Pistols grants a $+2$ Modifier, but cannot be combined with the bonus from a Derringer in this case.
2	Fearsome	Enemy models wishing to Fight this model (even if it is Down!) must pass a 1 Die Nerve Test or suffer a -1 Die Modifier on its Fight Tests this Activation. Note that other Fearsome models ignore this Skill.
3	Bull-Rush	If this model Charges and wins the ensuing Fight, the Defender suffers a -1 Save Modifier.
4	'Ornery	This model ignores the penalty for being in Contact with multiple enemies in a Fight.
5	Tough	This model always has a +1 Save Modifier.
6	Mean	This model gains an extra +1 Die Modifier on its Fight Tests.

		GUMPTION SKILLS TABLE
D6 Roll	Gumption Skill	Notes
1	Bushwhacker	When this model is on Lookout and Reacts, after resolving their Reaction, roll one Grit Die on their behalf. If you score a Success, this model retains its Lookout marker and is not classed as Done. It can still only React once per triggering Action, however!
2	Nerves of Steel	This model may re-roll any one Die result on all its Nerve Tests, including Bottle Checks when applicable.
3	Hard to Kill	If this model is Downed at the start of the Recovery Phase, it automatically stands up Shaken.
4	Quickdraw	This model may re-roll a Reaction Test.
5	Lead-Belly	This model ignores the Grit Penalty whilst Shaken.
6	Slick	When Activated, this model may roll one Grit Die. On a Success, it can make an additional Action this Activation.

# **Income Phase**

In this Phase, you will earn Income from your Posse's downtime activities – lawabiding or otherwise! This is expressed in Dollars (\$), which can be spent in the next Phase on various things.

You earn \$4D6 if you drew or lost the game, or \$5D6 if you won.

Roll the Dice and add the scores together to find out how much Income you earn after upkeep and sundry expenses. These funds are stored in your Stash and can be used to buy additional Weapons and Gear, horses and/or new Recruits.





## **ENCOUNTERS**

When rolling for Income, any two, three or four of a kind on the dice means your Posse has had an Encounter.

For example, if you rolled 3, 3, 4 and 5 you would earn \$15 and the two 3s would indicate an Encounter – in this case, a Forgotten Cabin.

If you generate two or more different Encounters, you may choose which one (and only one!) to resolve.

Look up the result below to see what has befallen your Posse – the results are applied immediately after working out your Income.

		TWO OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE
Two of a Kind	Encounter	Notes
1	Abandoned Ranch	The Posse comes across a derelict farm — there is no sign of any inhabitants You can send one model to scavenge if you wish for \$1D6. On a score of 1, you find a Lasso in addition to the money.
2	Refugees	The Posse encounters a bedraggled column of civilians in ragged clothes and carrying a few meagre possessions. You may either escort them to safety for \$1D6 and a bottle of Whiskey, or attack them $-$ roll a D6, and earn 1 Infamy on a score of $4+$ .
3	Forgotten Cabin	Deep in the backwoods, you stumble upon an old cabin. You may send one model to loot the cabin if you wish — roll a D6 to see what they find: 1: Nothing 2—4: \$1D6 5—6: Shotgun
4	Mad Preacher	A wild-eyed Priest staggers up the trail towards you, ranting incoherently and waving a fist at the sky! Roll a D6. On a 1–5 he rants and raves with no further effect. On a 6, he joins your Posse — exactly like a Preacher Hired Gun but with a Shotgun.
5	Old Moonshine Still	Deep in the backwoods you discover an old moonshine still — unopened bottles are strewn about the clearing. You find D3 bottles of Whiskey. On a natural roll of 6, you find a single bottle of Snake Oil instead. On a natural roll of 1, your Posse over-indulges and all your models that are Deployed at the start of your next game begin with a Done Token!
6	Stagecoach	A stagecoach comes rumbling down the trail behind you — it's a long ways to the nearest town You can choose to ride along as guards or attack it. If you ride along you earn \$2D6. If you attack, roll a D6 — on a score of $4 +$ , you earn 1 Infamy.
	T	HREE OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE
-----------------	------------------------	---
Three of a Kind	Encounter	Notes
1	Isolated Ranch	As your Posse nears this small farmstead, the door opens and a young couple steps out to watch you approach. You may either attack the Ranch for 1 Infamy on a D6 score of $4+$ , or help out for a while for \$1D8 and a Horse.
2	Lynch Mob	You come across a mob of angry townsfolk preparing to lynch a stranger You may decide to ignore or intervene. If you intervene, make an Injury rol for D3 random models in your Posse (re-roll 'Dead') but gain a new Veteran armed with a Pistol.
3	Travelling Salesman	Out in the badlands, you see a garishly painted old wagon approaching in the distance Choose two different Uncommon Items. These Items are available to buy in the following Purchase Phase, in addition to any your Boss finds by Searching (see page 78).
4	Massacre	You stumble across the remains of a rival Posse, riddled with bullets. Roll a D6 to see what you find on the bodies: 1: Nothing 2–3: \$2D8 4–5: Two Pistols and a Rifle 6: Repeater Rifle and Shotgun
5	Stampede!	You suddenly feel a rumbling in the ground, before a huge mass of panicked cattle thunders over a nearby ridge and straight for your Posse! Roll one Grit Die for D3 random models in your Posse — if you Succeed, the model is unharmed. If you Fail, make an Injury roll for that model.
6	Old Mine	Up in the hills, you stumble across an old, abandoned mining camp. You may send up to three models to explore the Mine — roll a D6 per model to see how many \$ worth of nuggets they find. On a roll of 1, you find nothing On a 6, you find a stick of Dynamite instead.



FOUR OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE								
Four of a Kind	Encounter	Notes						
1	Lawman Posse	A large group of grim-faced men surrounds you and demands that you give yourself up! You must pay \$ equal to your current Infamy. If you cannot or will not pay, you must fight — make Injury rolls (re-roll 'Dead') for D3 random models in your Posse, but you manage to fight the Lawmen off and gain 1 EXP for your Boss.						
2	Pilgrims	A group of sombrely dressed folk singing hymns crosses your Posse's path. Roll a D6. On a 1, you get a stern lecture but nothing else. On a 2+, a single model in your Posse with a Lasting Injury (your choice it has more than one) may immediately remove its effects.						
3	Escaped Prisoner	You pass a bedraggled man on the trail, and realise you've seen him before on a Wanted poster in the nearby town! You can either turn him in or let him join you. If you turn him in, you earn \$1D10 $+5$ . If he joins you, gain a Novice with a Pistol.						
4	Wagon Train	Crossing a dusty prairie, you encounter a winding column of covered wagons. As your Posse gets nearer, the lead driver hails you You may either attack or ride along as guards. If you attack you earn 1 Infamy or a D6 roll of 4 + , and \$1D10. If you ride with them you earn \$D8 and one other reward — roll a D6: 1: Repeater Rifle 2: LeMat Pistol 3: Boilerplate 4: Sawn-Off Shotgun 5: Telescopic Sight 6: Horse						
5	Bushwhacked	As your Posse crosses a small creek, a group of dangerous-looking desperadoes emerge from hiding with guns pointed at you! You are ambushed! Roll one Grit Die for D3 random models in your Posse — if you score a Success the model is unharmed. If you Fail, that model must make an Injury roll. You then drive the enemy away and earn 1 EXP for your Boss plus \$2D10.						
6	Boom-Town	<ul> <li>After days of travelling in the wilderness, the Posse stumbles upon a thriving frontier town! You may send up to four models into Town. Roll a D6 for each one to see what they find there:</li> <li>1: A New Life: The model leaves your Posse to settle down. Remove it from your Roster as if it were Dead!</li> <li>2: Trouble: The model runs afoul of the local Law. It must miss the next game unless you pay \$10.</li> <li>3: Docs: The model visits the local physician. You may pay \$10 to remove the effects of one Lasting Injury this model is suffering (if any).</li> <li>4: Saloon: The model earns you \$D6 from gambling. On a roll of 6, they also start the next game with a Done Token (they overdid it on the whiskey!).</li> <li>5: Hotel: The model meets an old friend here. On a D6 roll of 4+, your Posse gains a new Novice armed with a Pistol for free (if you want them).</li> <li>6: Store: The model comes across a well-stocked store. You may choose any two Uncommon Items from th Item Lists; these Items are available to buy in the following Purchase Phase, in addition to any your Boss finds by Searching (see page 78)!</li> </ul>						

**OPPOSITE** The Crossroads Cult: Magister



# **Purchase Phase**

# RECRUITMENT

You may now Recruit new models for your Posse.

The maximum number of models allowed in your Posse is 10.

You are never guaranteed a constant supply of good quality new recruits for your Posse. However, a successful and/or famous Posse is more likely to attract new members – roll one Grit Die on behalf of your Boss (so if they are a Veteran, you roll a D8, for example) on the table below, and add 1 to the result if you won the previous game:

RECRUITMENT TABLE					
Die Result Recruits Available					
1	None				
2	1 Novice				
3	2 Novices				
4	3 Novices				
5	4 Novices				
6	1 Veteran				
7	2 Veterans				
8+	3 Veterans				

This is cumulative, so you may Recruit models from any result below the one you rolled up to the maximum number per Rank.

So if your score was a 6 you could Recruit 1 Veteran and up to 4 Novices. If your score was a 10, you could recruit up to 3 Veterans and up to 4 Novices!

Hired Guns (see page 75) are treated as a model of the appropriate Rank for Recruitment purposes.

You may hire a Novice for \$4, or a Veteran for \$10.

Each new Recruit comes unarmed, and cannot be used in a game until they have at least one Weapon – you must therefore pay for their Weapons at the same time as you acquire your new Recruit, but these can be Basic or Special as you wish. If you hire a new Recruit but cannot afford to arm them, they may not be used in games until they have been armed – though they still count as part of your Posse!

Alternatively, you may freely swap Weapons and equipment between models in your Posse (except Hired Guns) as you wish during Recruitment.

You may also freely dismiss any number of models from your Posse at any

point during Recruitment. If you do this then the model takes all their Weapons and equipment with them when they go!

# HIRED GUNS

A Posse may hire only one of these individuals during each Purchase Phase. Each type of Hired Gun is on a 25mm diameter base, and can only be taken once per Posse.

A Hired Gun will increase a Posse's Infamy as normal, and counts towards its maximum number of models. However, they will never be a Posse's Boss – if your Posse ever comprises only Hired Gun models, you must start a brand new Posse!

During Recruitment, you must pay the listed Retainer for each Hired Gun in your Posse before doing anything else – if you cannot or will not pay, that Hired Gun leaves your Posse, taking all their current equipment with them.

Hired Guns will earn EXP, Advance and suffer Injuries like any other model unless stated otherwise.

Unless otherwise noted, they can be bought new Weapons and Gear if you wish.

### Doc

Some unscrupulous or desperate physicians will hire out their services to even the most Infamous of Posses.

DOC	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit			
DOC	\$8 \$2 Novice					
Special	suffered by a friendly model one Grit Die on behalf of the 1 means the patient is dead;	ows you to try to cure a single — this is attempted at the en Doc — a maximum score cano anything in between has no e by a Native American Posse,	d of the Injury Phase. Roll cels that Injury, a score of ffect.			

# Moonshiner

Though erratic, a skilled Moonshiner can keep their Posse's spirits up and even use their 'Special Reserve' as an explosive weapon in a pinch!

MOONCHINED	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit			
MOONSHINER	\$12 \$3 Novice					
Special	rules for a stick of Dynamite Armed with a Pistol, and add game they survive on a D6 r	ner may throw a burning bottl e. Is one bottle of Whiskey to yo oll of 6. If this free Whiskey is ore Whiskey until the current	ur Stash at the end of each s not used up, the			

# Preacher

A stern admonishment or uplifting verse can inspire even the yellowest of hearts.

DDEAQUED	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit			
PREACHER	\$6 \$2 Novice					
Special	When you make a Bottle Check if your Preacher is on the table Armed with a Pistol. If hired by Shaman or wise-man.	and not Down.				

# Prospector

A Prospector knows where to look to find gold and other precious minerals, and can always bring in a little extra income for those Posses that can afford their services.

PROCESSED	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit			
PROSPECTOR	\$15 \$4 Veteran					
Special	does not contribute towards Armed with a Pickaxe (in a F	ou may add an additional \$D8 s triggering Encounters. Fight, enemies struck by this soes Drawn Fights by 1) which	suffer a -1 Save Modifier,			

# Pugilist

These pugnacious prize-fighters bring added muscle to their employer!

DUQUICT	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit
PUGILIST	\$12	\$3	Veteran
Special	to score a Success. Armed with fists and a bad a	+1 Die Modifier and may re-ı attitude, and cannot be given ıle that you may not field a m	any other Weapons. Note

**OPPOSITE** The Twilight Order: Preacher



# Scout

Whether grizzled Mountain Man or Native Scout, these individuals have a keen eye for the lie of the land.

COULT	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit				
SCOUT	\$15	\$15 \$4 Veteran					
Special	to resolve the Encounter dir example, if you roll double 2	ound when it Moves. ome Phase, if you trigger an E ectly above or below it (when ? you may choose either the 'A r instead of the 'Refugees' En	e applicable) instead. For Ibandoned Ranch' or				

# **BUYING AND SELLING**

You may purchase additional Weapons for your models at the cost shown, so long as the Weapon is depicted on the on the model. Each model can carry up to three Weapons.

You may also buy up to three items of Gear for each model. Where possible or practical, these should also be shown on the model. At the very least, you should ensure that your opponents know exactly what each model is equipped with before the game starts, in the interests of fair play!

Finally, each model can have a single Horse, which takes up a Gear 'slot'.

## Setting Items

If your Posse is really strapped for cash, you may sell on your unwanted Weapons, Gear and horses for half the listed price (rounded down to a minimum of 0) and add the amount to your Stash.

For example, you may sell a Pistol for \$1.

## Searching for Uncommon Items

Certain Weapons and Gear are only available to your Posse in limited numbers.

These are known as Uncommon Items and are marked out as such by a \* on the Price list that follows.

You may declare that your Boss is Searching for Uncommon Items in the Purchase Phase – a Novice Boss rolls a D3 -1, a Veteran Boss rolls a D4 -1 and a Hero Boss rolls a D5 -1.

If your Boss is currently 'Laid-Up' due to Injury, they may not Search for Uncommon Items!

The result is the maximum number of Uncommon Items available to purchase (meaning that you don't get them for free!). The exact Items available are at your discretion, as they are the ones your Boss is specifically Searching for; however, you cannot buy more than one of each Uncommon Item in each Campaign Turn.

For example, Aaron's Boss is at Veteran Rank, and he declares that he will Search for Uncommon Items. Aaron rolls a D4, and scores a final result of 3, which is reduced to 2. He can therefore purchase up to two Uncommon Items of his choice, and chooses a stick of Dynamite and a Bottle of Snake Oil.

	ITEM PF	RICE LIST		
Basic Weapons		Horses and Gear		
Pistol	\$2	Appaloosa Horse*	\$15	
Shotgun	\$5	Horse	\$10	
Carbine	\$3	Boilerplate*	\$20	
Rifle	\$5	Dynamite*	\$15	
Bow	\$2 (Native Americans only)	Lasso	\$3	
Special Weapons		Marked Cards*	\$9	
Repeater Rifle	\$11	Derringer	\$2	
Heavy Pistol*	\$6	Snake Oil*	\$5	
Sixgun	\$5	Telescopic Sight*	\$10	
LeMat Pistol*	\$4	Vial of Nitro	\$10	
Buffalo Gun*	\$15	Whiskey	\$4	
Sawn-Off Shotgun	\$8	* Uncommon Item	1	
Supernatural Gear	1	Supernatural Gear is only use		
Blessed Water*	\$8	Campaign (see page 126), but is included here for completeness.		
Grimoire*	\$18			
Holy Symbol*	\$8			
Lucky Jackalope's Foot*	\$5	1		
Silver Bullets*	\$3	1		

# Weapons Summary

			B	ASIC WE	APONS TABLE
Weapon		Ranges			Notes
	S	М	L		
Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D10	Pistol
Carbine	6"	12"	18"	D10	Rifle
Shotgun	4"	8"	12"	D10	Shotgun. +1 Die Shooting at up to 4", and -1 Die at 9–12"
Bow	6"	12"	18"	D10	Native Americans only. Targets gain a +1 Save Modifier at 7–12", and +2 at 13–18"
Rifle	8"	16"	24"	D8	Rifle

SPECIAL WEAPONS TABLE						
Weapon	Ranges			Jam	Notes	
	S	М	L			
Heavy Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 4"	
Sixgun	4"	8"	12"	D6	Pistol. May Shoot twice as one Action	
LeMat Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Once per game, may Shoot as a Sawn-Off Shotgun	
Repeater Rifle	6"	12"	18"	DG	Rifle. May Shoot twice as one Action	
Buffalo Gun	10"	20"	30"	D6	Rifle. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 10"	
Sawn-Off Shotgun	6" Fire Corridor		Auto	Shotgun. Automatically Jams after Shooting		

### Weapon Classes

All Weapons (except Bows) have a Class – this is a rough grouping of similar types of firearm, and determines whether certain Skills and Gear can be used in conjunction with them. These Classes are Pistol, Shotgun and Rifle.

By way of an example, you can fit a Telescopic Sight to any Rifle-Class Weapon – this includes basic Rifles, Carbines, Repeater Rifles and Buffalo Guns.

### Horses and Gear Summary

#### **Appaloosa Horse**

See the rules for Mounted Models (page 39) – however, an Appaloosa has a Move rate of 8".

#### Horse

See the rules for Mounted Models (page 39).

#### Boilerplate

The wearer cancels one Success rolled by the Shooter each time it suffers a Shooting Attack, but its Move rate is reduced by 1" (even if Mounted).

For example, the wearer suffers a Shooting Attack and the Shooter scores two Successes – because of the Boilerplate, one Success is cancelled out so only one Success is actually scored by the Shooter!

#### Derringer

This item can only be used once per game, in a Fight. The user gains a +1 Die Modifier for one Fight Test. A model may only use one Derringer per Fight Test, even if it has more than one such gun.

#### Dynamite

See the Dynamite rules (page 41). This is for one stick of Dynamite, and you may have any number in your Posse during a Campaign.

#### Lasso

As a Shoot Action, the user can throw the Lasso up to 6" at an enemy model – this Attack is not modified for Range (though other modifiers will apply).

If the Target fails their Save they suffer no Damage, but are instead dragged 1" directly towards the Lasso thrower in a straight line for each Success the attacker scored.

Note however that if the Target model is on a larger base than the user, then the maximum distance it can be dragged is 1".

A model can be dragged off a horse or elevated position – and counts as falling where applicable!

#### Marked Cards

You may only have one of this item in your Posse. When rolling for Income, you may nominate a model to use the Cards and re-roll any single Die result. If the new roll is a 1, the nominated model is caught cheating and must roll for Injury immediately.



#### **Snake Oil**

This item is single-use. The user may apply this suspicious-looking tonic to a friendly model in Contact (including itself) and who is either Shaken or Down, using a full Move Action to do so. Roll a D6. The model immediately removes its Shaken marker (or stands up as if it was Down) on a roll of 4+. Regardless of Success, the item is used up and discarded.

#### **Telescopic Sight**

This must be attached to a specified Rifle-Class Weapon. The weapon's Long Range increases by 6".

For example, a Carbine with a Telescopic Sight attached has a Long Range of 13–24" rather than 13–18".

Only one Sight can be attached per weapon!

### Vial of Nitro

A model can only carry one of this item. This item works exactly like a stick of Dynamite, and is one use only. The bearer cannot ride any kind of Horse. In addition, if the user ever fails a Save with a score of 1 or 2, the Nitro immediately explodes with the blast centred over them!

#### Whiskey

This item is single-use. The user may drink this item as part of any Move Action at the cost of 1" of movement. It then automatically passes all Nerve Tests it would have to make for the rest of this Turn (including Bottle Checks, if applicable!), but suffers a -1 Die Modifier on all Shoot Tests.

The effects of Whiskey end at the start of the following Game Turn.

#### **OPPOSITE The Twilight Order: Gunman**





# **Infamy Phase**

Infamy is a measure of your Posse's success, and is calculated during this Phase as follows:

• Base Infamy = Number of models in your Posse + combined personal worth of models.

Each game you win also increases your Infamy by 1 – be sure to track this on your Roster Sheet!

Finally, certain out-of-game Encounters can also increase your Posse's Infamy, depending on the choices you make.

For example, a Posse that has won three games and comprises six models – one Hero with the Fearsome Skill, two Veterans (one with the Gunslinger Skill) and three Novices – has an Infamy of 3 + 6 + 4 + 5 + 3 = 21.

Each model has a space on the Roster Sheet for you to record its personal worth in Infamy:

- Novices are worth 1 Infamy
- Veterans are worth 2 Infamy
- Heroes are worth 3 Infamy
- Each Skill a model has is worth +1 Infamy

For example, a Veteran with the Gunslinger and Fearsome Skills has an Infamy of 2 + 1 + 1 = 4.

At the end of the Campaign, the Posse with the highest total Infamy is deemed the winner!

# **UNDERDOGS**

If you play a game against a Posse with a higher Infamy, you are the Underdogs and will receive additional funding from your shadowy benefactors, and/or extra Experience. Note that you get this reward even if you lose the game – it's an incentive for taking on a more powerful opponent! See the table below.

As soon as the game is over, the bonus cash is immediately added to your Stash and the bonus EXP is distributed between your surviving models however you see fit – this is all done before moving on to the next Campaign Phase.

In a game involving three or more Posses, only the Posse with the lowest Infamy receives this bonus, which is worked out against the enemy Posse with the next lowest Infamy. If multiple Posses are tied for lowest Infamy, then nobody gets an Underdog bonus!

UNDERDOGS TABLE					
Difference in Infamy	Underdog Bonus				
1	None!				
2–3	\$3 and 1 EXP				
4—5	\$5 and 2 EXP				
6—8	\$7 and 2 EXP				
9—11	\$9 and 3 EXP				
12–15	\$12 and 3 EXP				
16+	\$15 and 4 EXP				





# A Brief Timeline of Dracula's America

## 1841

Fleeing a defeat in Europe at the hands of agents of the Twilight Order, Dracula eventually lands in America and immediately sets about infiltrating society with his vampiric Red Hand Coven.

### 1853

The Twilight Order finally discovers Dracula's whereabouts in the New World, and sends agents across the Atlantic in pursuit. Beginning of the 'Secret War' in America between the Order and the Coven.

## 1861

Outbreak of the Civil War. Dracula insinuates himself into Abraham Lincoln's inner circle under the guise of a military advisor from an old-established noble European family.

# 1863

The bloody stalemate at Gettysburg. Both sides fall back and regroup, beginning the brief cease-fire which heralds the onset of a Cold War of sorts between North and South, which will last for three years. Fuelled by paranoia, the excessive fortification of Washington DC begins – by the end of the year, the capital is already known as 'Fortress Washington' by its inhabitants.

### 1864

President Lincoln's Emancipation Proclamation is finally unveiled – the Congregation is officially recognised, and fights a guerrilla war while promoting Union propaganda from within the Confederacy.

### 1866

The end of the cease-fire brings a close to three years of unprecedented guerrilla activity and the war of propaganda between both sides. North and South hurl their re-forged armies into pitched battle once more.

### 1868

General Lee's surrender at Richmond. To Lee's disgust, President Jefferson calls for the remaining loyal Confederate forces to wage a guerrilla war. General Jebediah Craine answers that call.

### 1869

The complete razing of the South by General Sherman on his infamous March to the Sea – the end of the Civil War proper. General Craine and his fanatical soldiers escape deep into the darkest bayous of Louisiana, vowing revenge.





In the winter of this year, President Lincoln and his entire cabinet are assassinated in a single night. In accordance with his last wishes, Lincoln's mysterious advisor from Europe, one Prince Dracul, assumes control in the interim and blames the outrage on Confederate sympathisers, using this as an excuse to immediately impose martial law.

### 1870

In the turmoil of the devastated country, Dracula makes his play for power and is formally recognised as President-for-Life of the United States. Forming of the socalled 'Shadow Union'.

Meanwhile, General Jebediah Craine wrests the secrets of Vodou from a captured Congregation Houngan.

### 1871

The Reconstruction begins – meanwhile, Grant forms the underground Resistance in the North, and General Lee becomes the figurehead for the Free South Movement.

Establishment of the Intercontinental Railway by Edward Crowley – businessman, philanthropist, and secret Grand Magister of the diabolic Crossroads Cult – so beginning his Great Ritual. Syphoning up the natural energy of ley-lines to power their dark magicks, the Cult disrupts the Balance of Nature and a series of 'natural' disasters begin to rock America.

In December, Dracula makes his historic Winter Address – dark creatures from the Old World begin to cross the Atlantic in greater numbers, as the Twilight Order struggles alone to stem the tide of evil. 'The Terror' begins.

### 1872

Guided by the Great Spirit speaking through the mysterious Shaman calling himself White Raven, the Native American tribes discover the source of the recent imbalance in Nature and the existence of the Crossroads Cult, and forge their alliance for the first time. The newly formed Skinwalker Tribes begin their attacks on the Intercontinental Railway within a month, and Crowley's Great Ritual is disrupted.

### 1873

Craine formalises the Rites of Necromancy and raises the first Revenant – the Dark Confederacy is born.

Meanwhile, refugees from back East begin to flood the West in ever-greater numbers in a bid to escape The Terror. Foul and hungry creatures follow in their wake.

#### **OPPOSITE The Skinwalker Tribes: Shaman**

## 1875

The present day. As the Dark Confederacy grows in strength and begins to make forays northwards, the Congregation step up their guerrilla attacks – unwittingly aiding Dracula's Shadow Union in the process.

Meanwhile the Skinwalker Tribes continue to disrupt the progress of the Intercontinental Railway, and Grant's Resistance forges a hasty alliance with the Twilight Order against Dracula's Red Hand Coven.

# **Unusual Models**

This section introduces Supernatural, Flying and Ethereal models to the game.

Note that these abilities are not Skills, and so do not increase a model's personal Infamy!

# SUPERNATURAL MODELS

These models follow all the usual rules as already given, but certain game effects may affect them differently. This will be noted where applicable.

## Entities

These are a variant of Supernatural Creature, and are usually some kind of spiritbeing summoned to the table via the use of certain Arcane Powers. Where an effect pertains to a Supernatural model, it also applies to an Entity – however, something that affects only Entities will not apply to other Supernatural Creatures.

# **FLYING MODELS**

These models may ignore all other models and terrain as they Move, and will never need to leap or suffer the effects of falling (they are simply placed at the bottom of the elevated position, having floated safely to the ground).

Flying models are assumed to start and end each Move Action on the ground, unless otherwise stated – this must be in a position where the model can physically stand!

They may ride a horse if allowed to do so, but will follow the rules for Mounted models instead of those for Flying.

A Flying model cannot use these bonuses while inside a building or other enclosed space!

# ETHEREAL MODELS

These models work in a similar way to Flying models – they may pass 'through' all other models and terrain as they Move, and will never need to leap or suffer the effects of falling (as with Flying models, they are simply placed at the bottom of the elevated position, having floated safely to the ground).

However, all such movement is assumed to be made along the ground like a regular model on foot – it cannot 'fly' up to the roof of a three-storey building from the ground floor, for example. It may freely pass through the solid walls of the building though, unlike a Flying model.

Lastly, an Ethereal model cannot end a Move 'inside' solid terrain or another model!

# **Arcane Powers**

You can turn a single non-Hired Gun model in your Posse into an Arcanist by giving them a Grimoire item – the Grimoire is destroyed in the process, so does not take up a Gear slot.

Becoming an Arcanist adds 1 to a model's personal Infamy.

You can only have one Arcanist in your Posse at any one time – certain Factions have access to other models that are able to use certain Arcane Powers, and these can be taken in addition to your single allowed Arcanist. They otherwise follow all the Casting rules given below.

When it becomes an Arcanist, a model must choose three different Powers from the list on page 96. These Powers cannot be changed once chosen – however, if an Arcanist Advances then they may choose a new Power instead of rolling on the Advance table. An Arcanist can know a maximum of six different Powers.

# **CASTING POWERS**

Once per Activation, a model may attempt to Cast a Power instead of making a Move or Shoot Action, if it is not in Contact with an enemy model. An Arcanist cannot Cast a Power as a Reaction.

Make a 3 Dice Casting Test for the model, and if you score Successes equal to or over the Power's listed Difficulty, the Power is Cast successfully. If you score no Successes and at least one Die is a 1, you Miscast and the Caster immediately becomes Shaken (or Downed if already Shaken).

A model can have only one of each Power in play at any one time – for example, a single Caster could not have two Transfix Powers in effect at once.

Unless stated otherwise, the effects of all Powers cease at the start of this Game Turn's Recovery Phase.

Should the Caster be Downed or become a Casualty, the effects of all Powers they have in play will end immediately. Any Summoned Entities they brought into play will, however, remain.

# CONCENTRATE

A Caster may declare a special Concentrate Action as the first Action of their Activation. If their second Action is to Cast, they gain a +1 Die Modifier to their Casting Test. Note this bonus only applies in the same Activation in which the Caster Concentrated.

# **SUMMONED MODELS**

A Posse can only have one Summoned model in play per Summoner at any time, and may only have one of each type of Entity at a time (one Lesser and one Minor Entity, but not two Lesser Entities).

If the same Summoner brings a new model into play that would not otherwise be allowed, an existing Summoned model (of your choice) is immediately removed from the table.

Summoned models are part of the Summoner's Posse – though they do not count towards your total Posse size, do not add a card to your Hand, and can never be your Boss. If you only have Summoned models left on the table at any point, they are removed immediately!

A Summoned model is worth VPs to the model that caused it to become a Casualty, as normal.

All Summoned models disappear at the end of a game – they do not increase your Infamy and cannot Advance or suffer Injuries.

The most common type of Summoned models are Entities that use the following rules, and any Faction may Summon them. They can represent any kind of Supernatural Creature, such as a spirits, imps or cherubs.

	COMMON SUMMONED MODELS TABLE							
Entity Base Size Move Grit Special								
Lesser Entity	25mm	4"	DG	Entity. Fearsome				
Minor Entity	25mm	4"	D8	Entity. Fearsome				
Major Entity	40mm	4"	D10	Entity. Fearsome				

# **UNIQUE SUMMONINGS**

Certain Factions may also Summon the unique Entities described below. However, if they do so, the Casting Test suffers a -1 Die Modifier to represent the increased difficulty of Summoning such a wilful creature.

These unique Summonings nevertheless count as either Lesser, Minor or Major Entities and follow all the general rules given above.

## Behemoth

A monstrous, four-armed Abyssal whose eyeless skull is crowned by curling horns. Sulphurous vapour wreathes its tooth-filled maw and a mane of fire ripples down its broad back between two vast, leathery wings.

BEHEMOTH	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
	40mm	4"	D10	Major Entity. Flying, Fearsome. Has a breath attack which uses a 4" Fire Corridor.
				Can be Summoned by Crossroads Cult Arcanists only.

# Hellhound

This eyeless, hyena-like Abyssal with a flaming mane usually prowls the Abyssal Plane.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
HELLHOUND	25mm	6"	DG	Lesser Entity. Fearsome.
				Can be Summoned by Crossroads Cult Arcanists only.

# Seraphim

Wrathful, Angelic beings borne aloft on majestic white-feathered wings, the Seraphim are Heaven's warriors in the guise of hauntingly beautiful gunslingers sent to aid the righteous in their war against evil.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
SERAPHIM	25mm	6"	D10	Major Entity. Flying. Gunslinger. Fearsome. Armed with two Blessed Pistols (Pistols with Silver Bullets that never Jam). Can be Summoned by Twilight Order Arcanists only.



# Swamp Baka

Malignant Spirits forced to inhabit a hulking, roughly humanoid form crafted from the decaying plant and animal matter of the swamps, then bound to the will of a powerful *Houngan*, *Mambo* or *Bokor* of the Congregation.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
SWAMP BAKA	40mm	4"	D8	Major Entity. Fearsome. Hard to Kill. Lead-Belly. Tough. Ignores rough ground. May unleash writhing tendrils, using the rules for a Lasso. Can be Summoned by Congregation Arcanists only.

# Temple Snake

A terrifying form of Vodou-Spirit also known as a *Grand-Zombi*, a Temple Snake takes the form of a gigantic serpent topped by a grinning human skull which breathes sheets of supernatural fire upon its victims – its favoured prey being the corrupted Undead of the Dark Confederacy!

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
TEMPLE SNAKE	40mm	4"	D10	Major Entity. Fearsome. Has a breath-attack which uses a 4" Fire Corridor (enemy Supernatural models hit by this suffer a -1 Save Modifier). Can be Summoned by Congregation Arcanists only.

# **Vengeful Shade**

A Vengeful Shade is the bitter ghost of a fallen Confederate soldier, plucked from its tortured existence in the shadowy spirit realm known as the Hunting Grounds by a necromancer of the Dark Confederacy, and set loose in the physical realm to take its revenge on the living!

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
VENGEFUL SHADE	25mm	4"	DG	Minor Entity. Ethereal. Fearsome. Tough. Armed with a Spectral Pistol (Non-Supernatural Targets hit by this Pistol suffer a -1 Save Modifier). Can be Summoned by Dark Confederacy Arcanists only.

**OPPOSITE The Congregation: Swamp Baka** 

## Wendigo

Feral Spirits of winter and hunger, the Wendigo are the twisted souls of mortal men and women who committed cannibalism in life. Now, they possess a craving for fresh meat that can never be sated.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
WENDIGO	25mm	6"	D8	Minor Entity. Fearsome. 'Ornery. Mean whilst Fighting a Shaken opponent.
				Can be Summoned by Skinwalker Tribes Arcanists only.

# Arcane Power Summary

# **Arcane Blast**

### Difficulty 2.

A glaring beam of Arcane energy streaks from your outstretched palms.

Make an unmodified 3 Dice Shooting Test against one visible Target model within 9". Roll four Dice if the Target is an Entity.

## Banish

#### Difficulty 1.

You concentrate, and send the foul creature before you back to its own dimension!

Roll one Grit Die on behalf of the Caster – a visible Target enemy Entity model within 6" does the same. If the Caster rolls higher, the Target is immediately removed from play, otherwise there is no effect.

### Bless

#### Difficulty 1.

Calling upon your patron power, you ask a blessing for your ally.

Place a 'Bless' token on any one visible friendly model within 12". The Blessed model may re-roll all Failures it scores once in the very next Test or Save it has to make, after which the token is removed.

A model can only have one Bless Token token at a time.

#### **OPPOSITE The Dark Confederacy: Vengeful Shade**



Blessing a Cursed model (see below) removes that token, but otherwise has no effect. The reverse is also true!

# Curse

#### Difficulty 1.

Gesturing towards the enemy, you call down an ancient hex upon their heads!

Place a 'Curse' token on any one visible enemy model within 12". The Cursed model must re-roll all Successes it scores once in the very next Test or Save it has to make, after which the token is removed. A model can only suffer one Curse token at a time.

## Dispel

#### Difficulty 2.

With a wave of your hand, you unbind the Arcane threads of the enemy's Power...

Remove any one Bless, Curse, or Warding Circle token/marker within 12" from play. Measure to the model affected by the token/marker. No LOS is required for this Power.

## Faith Healing

#### Difficulty 3.

Your hands glow brightly as you place them over your comrade's wound – which immediately stops bleeding and begins to seal up!

Target a friendly Down/Shaken model in Contact with the Caster. It immediately recovers and stands up if Down, or if Shaken it removes this Token.

## Immolate

#### Difficulty 3.

With a mighty shout, a shockwave of Arcane energy blasts outwards from you in all directions!

All other models (not the Caster themselves) whose centre of base lies within 3" of the Caster must make a 5+ Save. Any model within the 3" radius, but whose centre of base is not may make a 1 Die Reaction Test. If Failed, they must make the Save as well.

### Scry

#### Difficulty 1.

Looking inwards, you concentrate and receive a fleeting glimpse into your enemy's intentions...

Nominate one opposing player. You may look at this player's Hand of cards.

### Summon

Difficulty 1–3.

Uttering forgotten syllables, you summon a creature from another Plane of existence and bind it to your will!

Choose a Difficulty before rolling to Cast. If successful, place the appropriate Entity within LOS and 3" of the Caster, and no closer than 1" to an enemy.

Difficulty 1 Summons a Lesser Entity, 2 Summons a Minor Entity, and 3 Summons a Major Entity.

Certain Factions may also Summon specific types of Entity – in which case a -1 Die Modifier will apply to the Casting Test.

# Transfix

### Difficulty 2.

As the victim meets your burning gaze, they feel their mind drifting away...

Target any one visible non-Entity enemy model within 6" that has not yet Activated. It must Succeed a 1 Die Nerve Test or immediately receive a Done Token.

# Warding Circle

### Difficulty 2.

Tracing Arcane sigils in the air, you create a barrier that no unnatural creature may cross.

Place a 50mm diameter Warding Circle marker centred under the Caster. No enemy Supernatural model may Move into Contact with the edge of the marker. If already within this area, their owner immediately moves them directly away the minimum distance necessary in a straight line until they are outside it, exactly as if they had been Shoved. This forced Move is not a Disengage, must stop once the model is 1" away from the marker, and cannot be used to Contact an enemy model.



The marker remains in play indefinitely, or until the Caster makes any other Action/Reaction, is Downed or becomes a Casualty.

# The Factions

# THE TWILIGHT ORDER

"From Ancient Greece and Imperial Rome to the present day, mankind has always been preyed upon by malignant supernatural forces.

Standing as a shield between the darkness and the ignorant masses of humanity, there have always been devout and selfless men and women such as yourselves who have stood apart from their fellows and met evil with fire and steel.

However, it was not until the bloody era of the Crusades that the Twilight Order – our Order – as it exists today was born; and it was born to fight a particularly insidious evil: the vampire.

Most virulent of all unnatural diseases, vampirism swiftly takes root away from the light and can consume entire towns and cities in mere days or weeks if left unchecked; we will teach you how to root out these monsters and destroy them.

From those grim days of blood and fire in the Holy Land, to the battles we fight today in the New World against your so-called 'President', the Order has unceasingly brought light into the darkness with sword and gun and a prayer on our lips. When we triumph, no thanks is looked for nor received. When we falter and perish in shadow, none but our comrades remember us.

Whether you later join the elite Templars, the tireless Crusaders or toil here in the Archives, when your training is complete you will not fear the night – the night shall fear you!"

> Brother Rudolphus, Twilight Order Master of Recruits (Valley Forge Facility, 1873)

Joining the Order grants your Posse access to various blessed weapons and ammunition with which to vanquish evil.

**OPPOSITE The Twilight Order: Crusader of the Order** 



### Faction Benefit: Crusaders of the Order

Two non-Hired Gun models in your Posse must become Crusaders of the Order when you join this Faction. These models each gain Nerves of Steel, a suit of armour (counting as Boilerplate), and start each game with all their Weapons fully loaded with Silver Bullets for free. Neither the Silver Bullets nor the armour may be given to other models, or sold on between games!

Should a Crusader ever be killed, you must have another eligible model in the Posse become a new Crusader to take their place between games for free – but you may never have more than two Crusaders in your Posse. They gain the benefits listed above in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills and so on.

# THE RED HAND COYEN

"Come out into the light where I can see you better, boy – no need to lurk in the shadows, I could smell you the moment you entered my humble home.

Ah, how steady your heartbeat – I applaud your courage, my dear sir! My only regret is that those friends of yours couldn't be here to join us... But I'm sure my Children are keeping them company.

Now, now, please put that gun away; I think we both know that it will do little but inconvenience me before I drain you dry. Besides, I'm not going to kill you just yet; you are, after all, my guest! Now, why don't you just put that pea-shooter away so we can talk like civilised men? There's a good fellow!

For centuries, you misguided cattle have dogged the steps of your betters – can you not see the futility of your mindless persecution? Can you not see that we are all just part of the natural order – we are the hunters, and you are the prey? This land already belongs to my Master – we are legion, and though it amuses us to watch you chase your own tails on your self-aggrandising 'Crusade' against us, there will come a time not so far from now where we will no longer indulge you, and bring you to heel!

Step closer, boy – ah, but still you try to resist! I commend you for it, though as you can see it does you little good. I always find that desperation adds a certain pleasing flavour to the blood..."

Broodsire Benedict Rutledge (to unknown Crusader of the Order, 1870)

Joining the Red Hand Coven makes your Posse the thralls of Dracula and his Shadow Union.

**OPPOSITE The Red Hand Coven: Broodkin** 



### **Faction Benefit: BroodKin**

Two non-Hired Gun models in your Posse must become vampiric Broodkin (or, if a Boss, a Broodsire) when you join this Faction. This makes them Supernatural and Move 6", and also gives them Hard to Kill and the Transfix Arcane Power (though they are not Arcanists).

In addition, if a Shaken Broodkin spends an Action while in Contact with a Downed Bystander or Downed non-Supernatural model, they will Feed. Their victim is removed from play, and the Broodkin removes their Shaken marker!

Should a Broodkin ever be killed, you must have another eligible model in the Posse become a new Broodkin to take their place between games for free – but you may never have more than two Broodkin in your Posse. They gain the benefits listed above in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills, and so on.

# THE SKINWALKER TRIBES

"I have had a vision of times to come. I stood upon a great plain, strewn with dead and dying buffalo. As I wept at this sight, I saw a swarm of pale locusts descend upon the land and strip it bare, before rising to blot out the sky with their bloated bodies.

Then I saw that the sky was bleeding, and that the ground was pierced by many wounds into which the blood ran. Terrible, dark things crawled from these scars, monsters from ancient tales; and as I looked on in fear I saw the spirits of great bears and wolves appear to fight them. Though the spirits fought well, for every monster they ripped apart two more took its place, and I awoke in my body once more...

I come before you now with this warning because I have seen the white-men come with their black iron engines and tear great wounds in the earth in their blind greed. The Great Spirit is crying out in pain, and the invaders are ignorant of her cries. We alone can restore Balance to the land and prevent my vision coming to pass – and we can only do this by driving the white-men and their machines away once and for all. This task requires all Peoples to unite as one, and to do this they must follow your example. We must awaken the animal spirits within ourselves as our Ancestors once did and become the avengers of the land... Before it is too late."

White Raven (to the first Great Council of the Tribes, 1872)

Your Posse become shape-shifting guardians of Nature when you join this Faction. Only Native American Posses may join this Faction.

**OPPOSITE The Skinwalker Tribes: Bear Form Skinwalker** 



# Faction Benefit: Skinwalkers

Two non-Hired Gun models must become Skinwalkers when you join this Faction. A Skinwalker is Supernatural, and may assume its Beast Form or return to Human Form by using an entire Move Action to do so. All Weapons and Gear they carry transform too, as part of the magic.

A Skinwalker must begin each game in Human Form.

A Skinwalker's Beast Form may be either Wolf or Bear – this is chosen when a model first becomes a Skinwalker, and cannot be changed from that point on.

In Beast Form, the model is replaced with a suitable monstrous model on a 40mm base. It gains Fearsome, plus the appropriate abilities listed below, but cannot use any Weapons or Gear, Cast Arcane Powers or ride a horse (which flees the table automatically if the Skinwalker transforms while riding!).

If Downed, it reverts to Human Form immediately – a Downed Skinwalker cannot assume its Beast Form until it Recovers.

Shaken and other game markers carry over between Forms.

Should a Skinwalker ever be killed, you must have another eligible model in the Posse become a new Skinwalker to take their place between games for free – but you may never have more than two Skinwalkers in your Posse! They gain the benefits listed above in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills, and so on.

### Wolf Form

Moves 6", and has an additional +2 Die Modifier in a Fight when on the Attack (it does not gain this benefit for being the Defender).


#### **Bear Form**

If this model wins a Fight, its opponent suffers a -1 Save Modifier. In addition, when Fighting an opponent on a smaller base, if the Skinwalker wins by two or more, it crushes the loser in a bear-hug! Should the victim fail its Save, it treats the Damage result as one worse – for example, a result of Shaken becomes Downed.

## THE CROSSROADS CULT

"Gentlemen! Thank you for coming out at this late hour to see me.

Please, you may safely remove your hoods – you are amongst friends, after all! Pray, take a seat before the fire – can my staff fetch you all a brandy? I had it imported from London at great expense, you know...

... And now I see you are all comfortable – to business!

It has come to my attention that progress on the Tombstone Line has been slowed somewhat due to increased unrest amongst the Natives. Indeed, Mr Crowley himself has telegraphed me to say that it is absolutely imperative we get back on schedule if the Great Undertaking is to go ahead as planned – our benefactor will brook no excuses on the matter and will be forced to... take steps... if this unacceptable situation continues. Brother DeLacey, I believe the Tombstone Line falls within your area of responsibility? I think we all remember the fate of your predecessor, Brother Tully – and what remained of the poor fellow once the Grand Magister's 'pets' were through with him...

Now, now, no need to shake so – I am sure you will personally overcome the problem with great alacrity as always, my dear sir. Take a mob of the Lay-Brethren with you against these belligerent Natives – that's what they are there for after all, the poor deluded fools.

Oh, and Brother DeLacey – remember that life is cheap; but time is not! Off you go, then – chop-chop!

Gentlemen – now our esteemed Brother has gone about his task, I require the rest of you to nominate a candidate to take his place, should the unthinkable happen, of course! As you all know, Mr Crowley does so hate the Great Undertaking to be delayed for any length of time..."

Maximillian Underwood, Overseer of Operations (Underwood House 1872)

A Crossroads Cult Posse serves diabolical masters masquerading as wealthy rail barons back East, and can call upon unnatural Abyssal Entities in battle. Native American Posses can never join this Faction.



#### **Faction Benefit: The Magister**

When you join this Faction, your Boss is a Magister of the Cult and automatically becomes an Arcanist for free. One of their three chosen Powers must be Summon. Should your Magister die, their replacement automatically becomes the new Magister as described above, in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills, and so on.

#### Faction Benefit: The Harbinger of the Abyss

In addition, a single non-Hired Gun model in your Posse becomes a Harbinger of the Abyss – the true, diabolical power behind your Magister's throne!

A Harbinger is Flying, Supernatural and automatically knows the Summon Arcane Power, but does not count as an Arcanist.

If they are not Downed and are within 6" of their Posse's Magister, then the Magister gets a +1 Die Modifier on all their Casting Tests.

A Harbinger can never be your Posse's Boss – if they are the only surviving model in your Posse after any game, you must start a new Posse immediately.

Should your Harbinger ever die, you must choose another eligible model to be your new Harbinger. They gain the benefits listed above in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills, and so on.

**OPPOSITE The Crossroads Cult: Harbinger of the Abyss** 

108



## THE CONGREGATION

"...I discovered that my erstwhile rescuers belonged to an organisation that simply calls itself 'The Congregation'. It comprises ex-slaves and Abolitionists who fight a gnerrilla war from the swamps within the so-called 'Dark Confederacy' and have so far managed to stymie the insane plans of that wicked man Craine and his acolytes.

Alone in this thankless task, the Congregation is poorly equipped and hopelessly outnumbered – yet still they prevail through use of the power of 'Vodou' as wielded by its *Houngans*, *Mambos* and *Bokors*; who as far as I could make out are priests of some kind. Vodou apparently centres around the summoning of powerful spirits called Loas which provide protection and other blessings to those who seek their aid. Some also inhabit the bodies of willing Vessels to create a powerful warrior.

Most hard for your Author to comprehend was that alongside the living marched the Zombi. These undead freedom-fighters willingly allow themselves to be raised upon their death so that they can continue the fight against General Craine's necromancers and preserve the freedom of their kin – whether alive or dead! At first I felt utter horror at this practice, until I met one of these 'dead-men' in the flesh. It turns out that Mr John Butler, formerly of Richmond, was as fond of the works of Shakespeare as I was, and we spent many a pleasant evening discussing the great Bard's various merits – my initial revulsion at my companion's undead state and the oppressive surroundings of the Bayou quite forgotten!"

P. Sheridan Thomas, excerpt from My Travels in the South, Vol. 2 (1875)

Joining the Congregation means your Posse has sworn to stop the Dark Confederacy, and fights – even beyond death – to protect the remnants of the Free South with the power of Vodou granted to them by the mysterious Loa spirits.

#### **Faction Benefit: The Vessel**

Before each game, one non-Supernatural, non-Hired Gun model of your choice in your Posse must be the Vessel for a Loa spirit before Deployment.

The Vessel gains Flying, Supernatural, Tough, Fearsome and the Arcane Blast Arcane Power (though this does not make them an Arcanist).

Any applicable Skills and/or Arcane Powers the model has can still be used while it is possessed – however they will temporarily lose all their Weapons, Gear, and Horse until after the game, when the possessed model reverts to normal.

**OPPOSITE The Congregation: Vessel** 



#### **Faction Benefit: Zombi Warriors**

Whenever a non-Supernatural, non-Hired Gun model in your Posse dies, you may choose to have them immediately return to unlife as a *Zombi* Warrior! You may have a maximum of two *Zombis* in your Posse at one time. If you wish to have a third model become a *Zombi*, you must choose an existing *Zombi* and remove them from your Roster.

A Zombi becomes Supernatural and gains Lead-Belly and Tough (if it didn't have these Skills already) and retains the Rank, Skills, Lasting Injuries, Arcane Powers, Weapons, and Gear it had immediately prior to dying. However it may no longer earn EXP or Advance!

In a one-off game, you may have up to two eligible models become *Zombis* when you choose your Posse – note who they are on your Roster.

## THE DARK CONFEDERACY

"As all in our once-great Nation know, the South is now a dark and uninhabited wasteland utterly devastated by Sherman's vengeful armies in those last terrible months of the Civil War.

Over the past few years, a large percentage of innocent Southern folk left for the Frontier and a new life, but those too afraid or too stubborn to leave their old homes still eke out an existence amongst the shattered cities and once-sprawling plantations...

...As I neared this benighted land, I increasingly began to hear dreadful rumours regarding the steaming bayous that lay beyond – some said that the dead laid claim to them, and that ghostly figures in tattered Confederate uniforms tirelessly patrolled its borders.

Of course, I at first dismissed such lurid and fanciful stories out of hand... But let me tell you, dear reader, that whatever dark tales are spun about the South only begin to shed light on the true horrors to be found within its bounds!"

P. Sheridan Thomas, excerpt from My Travels in the South, Vol. 1 (1874)

Throwing your lot in with the Dark Confederacy gives your Posse power over death itself – with their help, the South will literally rise again!

#### **OPPOSITE The Dark Confederacy: Master Necromancer**





## **Faction Benefit: Master Necromancer**

When you join this Faction, your Posse's Boss becomes a Master Necromancer and an Arcanist. They must take Faith Healing as one of their Powers. If your Necromancer dies, their replacement automatically becomes a Master Necromancer as described above, in addition to their existing Weapons, Skills, and so on.

## **Faction Benefit: Revenants**

Before you Deploy your Posse each game, roll a D3+1. Your Posse is joined by this many Revenant models, under your direct control, for this game only.

Revenants are part of your Posse, but do not contribute to its maximum number of models or the number of cards you draw each Turn.

REVENANT	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
	25mm	4"	D6	Fearsome. Hard to Kill. Armed with a Pistol.

Revenants are always armed with a single Pistol and cannot be given any other Weapons, Gear, or Horses – if the models are shown carrying any other Weapons, it is assumed these count as a Pistol (the Revenants lack the intellect or dexterity to use anything more complex than a Pistol effectively!). They can never go on Lookout, and are worth no VP to the enemy.

Finally, Revenants will automatically leave your Posse after each game and so never earn EXP, roll for Injuries or add to your Infamy rating.

When your Boss Activates, you may also choose to Activate all your Revenant models – though each Revenant can only ever make a single Action. This counts as part of the Boss' Activation, but does not use any of his/her own Actions.

Note that this is the only way you can Activate your Revenants, and can only be done once per Turn – regardless of how many Revenants you actually Activate, they all receive a Done Token whether they made an Action or not!

If your Boss ever becomes a Casualty in a game, then all Revenants will immediately revert to harmless corpses as the dark magic reanimating them dissipates – they are all removed from play at the same time.

## Supernatural Events

Instead of using the Unexpected Events table (page 45), you may roll on the following table instead.

	SUPERNATURAL EVENTS TABLE
D6 Roll	Event
1	Armed Civilians. The locals have finally had enough! Randomly select one area of terrain or building that has no models within. Make an unmodified 2 Dice Shooting Test with Grit DG against all visible models within 6" of the terrain. No Reactions are allowed against these attacks!
2	Unnatural Gloom. A sinister darkness falls over the area Until the end of this Game Turn, visibility is reduced to 12" for all non-Supernatural models.
3	Haunted! The Posses have disturbed something from its eternal rest — and it is not amused! Randomly select one area of terrain or building that has models in it. All non-Supernatural models in that terrain piece that are not Downed must Succeed on a 1 Die Nerve Test or immediately Move the minimum distance possible (using as many Actions as necessary) to leave the area — this forced Move must stop once the model is 1" away from the terrain, and cannot be used to Contact an enemy model. It does not count as an Action!
4	Let There Be Light. The battlefield is bathed in glaring sunshine or brilliant starlight. Until the end of this Game Turn, all Supernatural models suffer a -1 Die Modifier on all Tests.
5	Arcane Storm. Invisible to the mundane eye, a swirling vortex of Arcane energy descends overhead. Until the end of this Game Turn, all attempts to Cast Arcane Powers have a +1 Die Modifier. However on a Miscast the Caster immediately becomes a Casualty!
6	An Unwelcome Guest. A dangerous Supernatural Creature has taken an interest in this fight! Roll a D10 on the Unwelcome Guest Table (page 118).

## Supernatural Creatures

Use these rules to determine how a randomly encountered creature behaves on the battlefield. Where a Supernatural Creature behaves differently in some way, this will be noted in its entry in the Bestiary on pages 118–122.

During the NPC Phase, every Creature not in Contact with an enemy model will make up to two Move Actions towards the closest visible enemy (counting as Charging, should they Contact them), or in a random direction (in the same way as a Bystander moves) if there are no potential victims in sight!

If their first Move takes them into Contact with an enemy model, they will use their second Action to Fight if possible. Note that a Charging Creature ends its Activation after making its free Fight – it does not Fight twice!

If already in Contact with an enemy model when Activated, it will simply perform a single Fight Action against them. If in Contact with multiple Targets, then randomly select which one the Creature will attack.

- Creatures consider all non-NPC models to be enemies, and vice-versa.
- When attacking or defending against a Creature, the player to the left of the opponent rolls on behalf of the Creature.
- Creatures can be Shaken and Downed as normal. Make Recovery rolls for each Downed Creature in the Recovery Phase, as you would for any other model.
- A Creature is worth no VP.

## **ZOMBIE OR VAMPIRIC OUTBREAK!**

In games where you are using the Innocent Bystander rules, you may instead decide to use Zombies or Vampire Fledglings if all players agree. Roll D5+3 to determine how many Zombies/Fledglings are to be placed on the table. See page 120 for the Zombie and Vampire Fledgling rules.

Of course, if you are feeling particularly ambitious or unhinged you could combine Zombies, Fledglings and Bystanders for a truly chaotic game!





## **UNWELCOME GUESTS: A BESTIARY**

Whenever you roll an 'Unwelcome Guest' result on the Supernatural Events table, you must roll a D10 on the table below to discover what kind of Creature has shown up. They will behave using the rules for NPCs, as outlined on above, unless otherwise stated.

When it appears, place the Creature as close as possible to the centre of a randomly determined table edge.

All Unwelcome Guests are Supernatural.

	UNWELCOME GUESTS TABLE					
D10 Roll	Unwelcome Guest					
1	Jackalope					
2	Chupacabra					
3	Vampire Fledgling					
4	Hellhound					
5	Sasquatch					
6	Zombie					
7	Lost Soul					
8	Manitou					
9	Pale Rider					
10	Vampire Ancient					





## Jackalope

This small, aggressive beast resembles a large jack-rabbit with sharp fangs and twisting antlers crowning its head.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
JACKALOPE	20mm	6"	D6	Bull-Rush.

## Chupacabra

A Chupacabra is a scrawny, simian creature with scaly skin and a long, proboscislike tongue used to suck the blood of sleeping cattle and unconscious humans.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
CHUPACABRA	20mm	6"	D6	Always moves towards closest visible Downed enemy — if the Chupacabra Contacts a Downed model, that model immediately becomes a Casualty.

J€

## **Yampire Fledgling**

These feral creatures, still clad in ragged clothing, were once ordinary folks but are now in the first throes of vampiric infection. They are little more than ravenous animals, driven only by the urge to feed!

VAMPIRE	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
FLEDGLING	25mm	6"	D6	Mean.

### Hellhound

This eyeless, hyena-like Abyssal with a flaming mane usually prowls the Abyssal Plane.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
HELLHOUND	25mm	6"	D6	Entity. Fearsome.
	201111	Ŭ	50	Lintry, Foursonio.

## Sasquatch

Elusive guardians of the wild, when roused to anger a Sasquatch is a terrifying foe!

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
SASQUATCH	40mm	4"	D8	Lead-Belly. Fearsome. Gains Mean and 'Ornery while Shaken. Always ignores Native American models, and cannot be deliberately attacked by them in return. Ignores penalty for moving through forested rough terrain.

## Zombie

The dead do not rest easy in Dracula's America...

ZOMBIE	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
ZUMDIC	25mm	4"	D6	Fearsome. Hard to Kill.

**OPPOSITE Unwelcome Guests: Manitou** 



## Lost Soul

The twisted spirit of a nefarious Gunslinger. It's cursed pistol continues to claim more lives, long after it's death!

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
LOST SOUL	25mm	4"	D8	Entity, Ethereal. Fearsome. Tough. Always Shoots closest visible enemy within 12" instead of Moving, if applicable. This Attack is never modified and never Jams.

## Manitou

A malevolent Nature Spirit, the Manitou resembles a huge, malformed Skinwalker.

MANITOU	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
MANITOU	40mm	6"	D10	Entity. Fearsome. Mean. Tough.

## Pale Rider

A ghostly horseman wreathed in spectral fire, the Pale Rider is summoned by forbidden ritual to exact vengeance on a chosen victim.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
PALE RIDER	40mm	6"	D8	Entity. Ethereal. Fearsome. Randomly select a non-NPC model on the table as the Rider's Prey. The Rider will always move 8" towards the Prey, wherever it is. If the Prey should become a Casualty, the Rider immediately vanishes and is removed from the table. If the Rider Downs its Prey or ends a Move in Contact with them while they are Down, then the Prey is killed outright — that's right, the model is Dead! The Rider then immediately vanishes, as noted above.

## **Vampire** Ancient

Debased and monstrous vampires that have reverted to their bestial instincts with the passage of long centuries, the Ancients are the ultimate horrifying fate of even the most cultured and urbane Broodsire.

	Base Size	Move	Grit	Special
VAMPIRE ANCIENT	40mm	6"	D10	Flying. Bull-Rush. Fearsome. Mean. Hard to Kill.
				If this model Contacts a Downed enemy, it
				automatically removes that model from play and

# Supernatural Hired Guns

These new Hired Guns may only be hired in a Dracula's America Campaign, but otherwise follow all the normal rules for Hired Guns.

## Carpathian Guard

A unique fighting force that began life as Dracula's Cossack henchmen in Eastern Europe, their uniform may have been standardised since then but their resolve to protect their assigned ward has never wavered. Rumours persist that, though still mortal, their lives have been prolonged unnaturally by regular infusions of vampiric blood...

	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit
CARPATHIAN GUARD	\$18	\$4	Veteran
Special	Armed with a Pistol and a hu struck by this suffer a -1 Sa	hile within LOS and 3" of your ige, two-handed Woodsman's ve Modifier). This axe can nev rpathian Guard can never use nd Coven Posses.	Axe (in a Fight, enemies er be sold on or used by

## **Maverick Arcanist**

Born with minor Arcane aptitude, these roguish characters use their Power to commit various petty scams and to cheat at cards. When in a tight spot, they are not averse to using these harmless playing pieces as lethal Arcane projectiles!

MAVERICK ARCANIST	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit
MAVERION ARGANISI	\$16	\$4	Novice
Special	-	in your Posse alongside the u t Power (representing ensorce as normal.	

£.

## Stitch-Doctor

First reported during the Civil War, the undead Stitch-Doctors unnaturally prolong their existence through harvesting the organs of others. Despite their unsavoury reputation and the odd missing patient, their medical skills are still highly prized...

	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit
STITCH-DOCTOR	\$12	\$3	Novice
Special	Supernatural. Once per Campaign Turn, allov models is currently suffering non-Hired Gun model in your I (harvested for parts!). A Stitch-Doctor never rolls for themselves!). Armed with a Pistol.	from during the Injury Phas Posse immediately suffers t	e. However, one other that Lasting Injury instead

## Templar of the Order

A throwback to the Twilight Order's medieval origins, the Templars' methods of combating the forces of evil have remained unchanged for centuries. Though somewhat out of place in the modern age, many Posses have found cause to be thankful for the presence of these determined and ruthless warriors.

<b>TEMPLAR OF THE</b>	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit
ORDER	\$20	\$5	Veteran
Special	Modifier in a Fight. Armed with a Blessed Great in a Fight suffer a -1 Save M Boilerplate in all respects. T	upernatural opponents this m -Sword (enemy Supernatural odifier) and Full Plate Armour his model can never use any be sold on, or used by any oth t Order Posses.	models struck by this model that counts as a suit of other Weapons.

**OPPOSITE Hired Guns: Stitch-Doctor** 



## **Undead Drifter**

Where they come from, nobody knows – or dares to ask! What is known is that these skilled gunfighters have a haunted past and seem cursed to live forever, never finding peace.

	To Hire	Retainer	Rank/Grit		
UNDEAD DRIFTER	\$18 \$4 Veteran				
Special	Supernatural. Fearsome. Har Never rolls for Injuries, and When Hired, you must rando for this model. Armed with one Weapon opti Shotgun, or a Rifle.	never Advances. mly generate one Skill from			

# Supernatural Gear

In addition to the usual Gear allowed in a regular Campaign, your Posse can also find or buy (see page 79) the following items:

## Supernatural Gear Summary

#### **Blessed Water**

Can only be taken by a non-Supernatural model. It follows all the rules for Dynamite except it only affects Supernatural models. Other models simply get a bit of a soaking!

#### Grimoire

Can be given to any non-Hired Gun model, which becomes an Arcanist if your Posse does not already have one. The Grimoire is destroyed in the process as the new Arcanist absorbs all the eldritch power from its pages, reducing the book to dust!

If an existing Arcanist is given a Grimoire, it benefits from a +1 Die Modifier when attempting to Cast a Power – this does not destroy the Grimoire. Further Grimoires have no effect.

Furthermore, a model with access to an Arcane Power, but that is not a 'true' Arcanist (such as a Broodkin with its Transfix Power), gains no benefit from a Grimoire.

#### **Holy Symbol**

Can only be taken by a non-Supernatural model. Even if they are not an Arcanist, the user may attempt to Cast either the Warding Circle or Banish Arcane Power following all normal rules, once per game. This item cannot cause a Miscast.

If you fail to Cast the chosen Power, you may try again in the same game – but once Cast successfully the Symbol cannot be used until your next game.

#### Lucky Jackalope's Foot

This item is one use per game. You may re-roll a single Die on behalf of the user, abiding by the second result as usual.

#### **Silver Bullets**

You may load one weapon with Silver Bullets before a game, for each of these Items you possess – these last until the end of the game (whereupon the blessing expires) or until the weapon Jams (representing your supply of Silver Bullets running out – when you clear the Jam, the Weapon fires regular bullets for the rest of the game!), at which point the Silver Bullets are removed from your Roster.

Until then, Supernatural models Hit by this Weapon suffer an additional -1 Save Modifier.



# Supernatural Encounters

When rolling for Income in a Dracula's America Campaign, use the following Encounters instead of the standard ones given earlier.

		TWO OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE
Two of a Kind	Encounter	Notes
1	Abandoned         The Posse comes across a derelict farm. There is no sign of any inhab           Ranch         from the word 'Croatoan' scratched into the front door You can sen           to scavenge, if you wish, for \$1D6. On a score of 6, you find a Lasso in         the money.	
2	Refugees	The Posse encounters a bedraggled column of haunted-looking civilians in ragged clothes and carrying a few meagre possessions. You may either escort them to safety for $106$ and a bottle of Whiskey, or attack them and earn 1 Infamy on a D6 roll of $4+$ .
3	<ul> <li>Forsaken</li> <li>Cabin</li> <li>You feel as if the trees themselves are watching you hungrily You may model to loot the cabin. Roll a D6 to see what they find: <ol> <li>The model is never seen again!</li> <li>The model is temporarily unhinged by their experiences and must mi Posse's next game</li> <li>-4: \$1D6</li> <li>Shotgun with 'Boomstick' etched on the stock</li> <li>Grimoire, bound in what looks like human skin</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	
4	Mad Preacher	A wild-eyed priest staggers up the trail towards you, ranting incoherently about 'the Elder Things' and waving a fist at the darkening sky! Roll a D6. On a 1–5, he rants and raves with no further effect. On a 6, he joins your Posse — exactly like a Preacher Hired Gun but with a Shotgun.
5	Sacred Burial Ground	The Posse has stumbled upon an ancient Native American burial site. Skinwalker Posses ignore this Encounter. All other Posses must roll one Grit Die for D6 random models. If you fail to roll a Success, these models start the next game with a Cursed token (see the Curse Arcane Power), which remains either until the end of the game or until negated by the Bless/Dispel Powers.
6	The Ritual	Following a flickering light in the darkness, you interrupt masked cultists enacting a weird ritual. A terrified prisoner is bound and gagged before a crude altar! You may either attempt to rescue the victim or (unless Twilight Order) join the Ritual. If you attempt a rescue, earn 1 EXP for your Boss and roll a D6. On a 1–3 the victim dies, and on a $4 +$ they join your Posse as a Novice with a Pistol. If you aid the Ritual, your Boss earns 1 EXP and your Posse gains 1 Hellhound (see page 93) for the duration of their next game only. It Deploys along with the rest of the Posse and is under your control, but does not count towards yours maximum number of models or add a card to your Hand. At the end of the game it disappears.

	THR	EE OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE
Three of a Kind	Encounter	Notes
1	Isolated Ranch	Miraculously, this small farmstead seems untouched by the surrounding horrors of Dracula's America! You may either attack the Ranch for 1 Infamy on a D6 roll of $4 +$ , or help out for a while, earning \$1D8 and a Horse.
2	Lynch Mob	You come across a mob of angry townsfolk preparing to lynch a stranger You may decide to ignore or intervene. If you Intervene, make an Injury roll for D3 random models in your Posse (re-roll 'Dead') but gain a new Veteran armed with a Pistol.
3	Abandoned Church	The faithful who once worshipped here are long since fled – or worse You may either raze the building for 1 Infamy on a D6 roll of $4+$ (if Skinwalker Tribes, Red Hand Coven, Crossroads Cult or Dark Confederacy), or pray if any other Posse. If you pray, roll a D6 for each model. On a $5+$ , that model starts the next game with a Bless Token (see the Bless Arcane Power), which lasts until the end of the game or until negated by the Curse/Dispel Powers.
4	Massacre	Rounding a corner, you stumble across several bodies sprawled across the trail. Each seems to have died from multiple claw and bite wounds – whatever did this may still be on the prowl nearby Roll a D6 to see what you find on the bodies: 1: Nothing 2–3: \$1D8 4–5: Two Pistols and a Rifle 6: Repeater Rifle and Shotgun
5	Stampede!	You suddenly feel a rumbling in the ground, before a huge mass of panicked cattle thunders over a nearby ridge and straight for your Posse! Something must have spooked them Roll one Grit Die for D3 random models in your Posse — if you Succeed, the model is unharmed. If you Fail, make an Injury roll for that model (re-roll 'Dead').
6	Old Mine	Up in the hills, you stumble across an old, abandoned mine — bleached bones lie scattered about the entranceway. You may send up to three models to explore the Mine — roll a D8 per model to see how many \$ worth of nuggets they find. On a roll of 1, you find nothing and something evil lurking in the mine devours the model! On an 8, you find a stick of Dynamite instead.

	-	FOUR OF A KIND ENCOUNTERS TABLE
Four of a Kind	Encounter	Notes
1	Old Battlefield	An oppressive aura of sadness assails you as the Posse crosses this desolate wasteland, which is filled with crude grave markers from the Civil War. Only Dark Confederacy, Skinwalker Tribes, Congregation or Twilight Order Posses are affected by this Encounter. A Dark Confederacy Posse may command the dead to rise, and when rolling for Revenants (in the next game only) they automaticall gain the maximum four Revenants rather than having to roll. Congregation, Skinwalker Tribes or Twilight Order Posses may try to sanctify the site — roll a D6, and on a 4 + the Posse's Boss earns EXP.
2	Pilgrims	A group of somberly dressed folk singing mournful hymns crosses your Posse's path. Roll a DG On a 1, you get a stern lecture but nothing else. On a 2, you get a Holy Symbol. On a 3, you get a Blessed Water. On a 4+, one model removes a single Lasting Injury they are currently suffering.
3	The Gallows Tree	You come across the ominous sight of a huge, gnarled tree with many bodies swinging amongs its twisted branches. Roll a D6 to see what you find: 1: Bottle of Snake Oil 2–3: \$1D8 4: Lucky Jackalope's Foot 5: Marked Cards 6: Grimoire
4	Wagon Train	Crossing a dusty prairie, you encounter a winding column of covered wagons. As your Posse gets nearer, the lead driver hails you You may either attack or ride along as guards. If you attack, you earn 1 Infamy on a D6 roll of 4+, and \$1D10. If you ride with them, you earn \$1D10 and one other reward — roll a D6: 1: Repeater Rifle 2: LeMat Pistol 3: Boilerplate 4: Sawn-Off Shotgun 5: Telescopic Sight 6: Horse
5	Bushwhacked	As your Posse crosses a small creek, a group of dangerous-looking desperadoes emerge from hiding with guns pointed at you! You are ambushed! Roll one Grit Die for D3 random models in your Posse — if you score a Success, the model is unharmed. If you Fail, that model must mak an Injury roll. You then drive the enemy away and earn 1 EXP for your Boss plus \$2D10.
6	Twilight Order Cache	Sheltering from a storm in a seemingly derelict farmstead, your Posse discovers what appears to be a cache of esoteric equipment left behind by members of the Twilight Order. It doesn't look like they ever returned to reclaim their gear. Roll a D6 three times to see what you find: 1: Silver Bullets 2: Blessed Water 3: Holy Symbol 4: \$1D10 5: Boilerplate 6: Grimoire



osse Name		
ction		
mes Won / counter Infamy Earned		
urrent Total Infamy		
itash		
	- Alexandre	

Model Name	Rank/Grit	Infamy	EXP	Skills
Weapons (up to 3)	4	1		
Gear (up to 3)				
Lasting Injuries				

Model Name	Rank/Grit	Infamy	EXP	Skills
Weapons (up to 3)				
Gear (up to 3)				
Lasting Injuries				

Model Name	Rank/Grit	Infamy	EXP	Skills	
Weapons (up to 3)					
Gear (up to 3)					
Lasting Injuries					

Model Name	Rank/Grit	Infamy	EXP	Skills	
Weapons (up to 3)	-				
Gear (up to 3)					
Lasting Injuries					

Model Name	Rank/Grit	Infamy	EXP	Skills	
Weapons (up to 3)					
Gear (up to 3)					
Lasting Injuries					



## Grit

- Novices: D6
- Veterans: D8
- Heroes: D10

## Tests

#### 1: Determine Base Number of Dice

Take a certain number of Dice of the type appropriate to their Rank to start with.

#### 2: Apply Dice Modifiers

Apply any appropriate Dice Modifiers as applicable to the situation. Note that these alter the number of Dice you get to roll, rather than the scores on the Dice.

You can never be reduced to 0 Dice for any Test – you always get at least 1 Die, regardless of Modifiers.

#### 3: Roll the Dice

- Each Die showing a score of 5 or better is a Success.
- Each Die showing a score of 4 or less is a Failure.
- If a Die shows the maximum possible score (for example, a 6 on a D6), then you may re-roll one of the other Dice if you wish, following the rules for re-rolls given previously.

#### 4: Determine Outcome

The total number of Successes you scored will determine the outcome of the Test.

133

## 1: Draw Phase

Create Hand – draw cards equal to half the number of your models on table (round up), plus one if Boss is amongst them.

## **2: Action Phase**

#### 1: Play a card from your Hand

Play a card face-down.

#### 2: Determine order of Activations

Flip face-down cards to determine order of Activation.

- Highest value card to lowest. Aces, Kings, Queens, Jacks, numerical cards (10–2), then Jokers.
- Black cards before red cards.
- **Cards of same value.** Roll-Off if multiple players reveal conflicting cards (e.g. Ace of Spades and Ace of Clubs), then resolve Activations in that order.
- Identical cards. An Event occurs, then Roll-Off to establish who Activates first.

#### 3: Make Activations

Activate any of your models that do not already have Done Tokens. You have three options:

- If all models have Done Tokens, you must **Pass**. Card goes to the Discard Pile.
- Solo Activation. Perform a combination of any two Actions (Move, Shoot, Fight or Lookout) with a single model. Each Weapon can only be fired once per Activation. The model then receives a Done Token.
- **Dual Activation**. Choose two models and make one Action with each of them. Both models receive Done Tokens.

#### 4: Discard and Repeat

Cards used for Activation go face up on your Discard Pile. Start the process again at step 1 until all players have no cards in their Hand or all models on the table are marked as Done. Discard any remaining cards in your Hand and the Action Phase ends.

#### **Running Out of Cards**

Played cards remain in your Discard Pile until you Refresh your Deck.

If you find yourself unable to draw enough cards at the start of a new Turn, Refresh your Deck by drawing what cards you can, then shuffling your Discard Pile and continue drawing as necessary.

#### Lone Gun!

If you have a Hand comprising only one card at the start of a Turn, you may decide exactly when to play it (following all normal rules for doing so) during the Phase.

#### **3: The NPC Phase**

Roll-Off – winner decides the order in which NPCs will act, subject to this sequence:

- Innocent Bystanders and scenario-specific NPCs get to act first.
- Supernatural Creatures then get to act.

### 4: Recovery Phase

#### 1: Remove Done Tokens

#### 2: Make Recovery Tests

3 Dice Recovery Test for each Downed model. Counts the number of Successes.

+1 Die Modifier for any model with any friendly non-Downed models in Contact.

- **0 Successes:** Remove model as a Casualty
- 1-2 Successes: Model remains Downed.
- 3+ Successes: Model stands back up but is Shaken.

#### **3: Bottle Checks**

Make Bottle Check when half Posse's starting number (rounded down) is a Casualty or Downed.

Boss must make Bottle Check – unmodified 3 Dice Nerve Test – on behalf of the entire Posse.

If Boss is Downed or not on the table, the model with the next highest Rank must make the Check on only 1 Die.

- At least 1 Success: Posse fights on.
- **0 Successes:** Entire Posse 'Bottles Out' all its remaining models are removed from play.

SAG.

## Shoot

#### 1: Declare Weapon and Target

#### 2: Check Range

#### 3: Roll to Hit

With Range determined, make a 3 Dice Shooting Test for the Shooter. The following Dice Modifiers apply:

SHOOT MODIFIERS				
Target has Cover	-1			
Target at Long Range	-1			
Back-Shooter	+1			
Target at Short Range	+1			
Shooter Elevated	+1			

#### 4: Target Makes Save if Hit

The Target model must now make a Save on one Grit Die to try and escape harm.

SAVES			
Number of Successes	Save On		
1	5+		
2	6+		
3	7+		
4	8+		
5	9+		
6+	10+		

## Fight

When a model is Activated for a Fight Action, follow this procedure:

#### 1: Choose Defender

#### 2: Roll to Strike and Determine Outcome

Both models now make a 3 Dice Fight Test. The following Die Modifiers will apply to one or both models:

FIGHT MO	DIFIERS	19 1 1
You are Charging	+1	A State of the second
You are Attacking a Fortified Defender	-1	1.1
Each unengaged enemy in Contact with you after the first	-1 per enemy Outnumbering you	A Me

Both models then total up their Successes:

- If the Attacker scores more Successes, they win the Fight and strike the Defender.
- If the Defender scores more Successes, they win and strike the Attacker.
- If the totals are equal, the model with the single highest scoring Die wins by 1. Otherwise the Fight is a Draw and has no effect, the Action ends and the models remain engaged (in Contact) with each other.

#### 3: Loser Makes a Save

#### Damage

When a model Fails a Save, the amount by which the Save was Failed determines the Damage suffered by the model:

	DAMAG	E TABLE	
Amount Failed By	1–2	3-4	5+
Damage Result	Shaken	Downed	Removed as a Casualty

#### Shaken

While Shaken, a model treats its Grit Die as one Rank lower, to a minimum of D6. Further Damage results of Shaken cause the model to be immediately Downed.

#### Downed

Whilst Down, a model may only be Activated to make a Move Action to crawl up to 2" and can be ignored by all models. It may not be Shot at but can be Fought – no Fight Test is made and the Downed model is immediately removed as a Casualty.

## Weapons Summary

			BAS	IC WEAP	ONS TABLE
Weapon S		Ranges			Notes
	М	L			
Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D10	Pistol
Carbine	6"	12"	18"	D10	Rifle
Shotgun	4"	8"	12"	D10	Shotgun. +1 Die Shooting at up to 4", and -1 Die at 9–12"
Bow	6"	12"	18"	D10	Native Americans only. Targets gain a +1 Save Modifier at 7–12", and +2 at 13–18"
Rifle	8"	16"	24"	D8	Rifle

			SPEC	CIAL WEA	PONS TABLE
Weapon	Ranges		Jam	Notes	
	S	М	L		
Heavy Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 4"
Sixgun	4"	8"	12"	D6	Pistol. May Shoot twice as one Action
LeMat Pistol	4"	8"	12"	D8	Pistol. Once per game, may Shoot as a Sawn-Off Shotgun
Repeater Rifle	6"	12"	18"	D6	Rifle. May Shoot twice as one Action
Buffalo Gun	10"	20"	30"	D6	Rifle. Targets suffer -1 Save Modifier at up to 10"
Sawn-Off Shotgun	6" F	ire Corri	dor	Auto	Shotgun. Automatically Jams after Shooting

#### Jamming Checks

When required to make a Jamming Check, roll the Weapon's Jam Die. On a Success nothing happens, but on a Failure the Weapon receives a Jammed Token, which must be cleared before it can be used again!

## Skills



FIGHTING SKILLS				
Fighting Skill	Notes			
Close Work	This model may use an unjammed Pistol-Class Weapon during a Fight to gain a $+1$ Die Modifier. Using two Pistols grants a $+2$ Modifier, but cannot be combined with the bonus from a Derringer in this case.			
Fearsome	Enemy models wishing to Fight this model (even if it is Down!) must pass a 1 Die Nerve Test or suffer a -1 Die Modifier on its Fight Tests this Activation. Note that other Fearsome models ignore this Skill.			
Bull-Rush	If this model Charges and wins the ensuing Fight, the Defender suffers a -1 Save Modifier.			
'Ornery	This model ignores the penalty for being in Contact with multiple enemies in a Fight.			
Tough	This model always has a +1 Save Modifier.			
Mean	This model gains an extra +1 Die Modifier on its Fight Tests.			

GUMPTION SKILLS					
Gumption Skill	Notes				
Bushwhacker	When this model is on Lookout and Reacts, after resolving their Reaction roll on Grit Die on their behalf. If you score a Success, this model retains its Lookout marker and is not classed as Done. It can still only React once per triggering Action, however!				
Nerves of Steel	This model may re-roll any one Die result on all its Nerve Tests, including Bottle Checks when applicable.				
Hard to Kill	If this model is Downed at the start of the Recovery Phase, it automatically stands up Shaken.				
Quickdraw	This model may re-roll a Reaction Test.				
Lead-Belly	This model ignores the Grit Penalty whilst Shaken.				
Slick	When Activated, this model may roll one Grit Die. On a Success, it can make an additional Action this Activation.				

LASTING INJURIES				
Injury	Notes			
Lasting Injury — Old Wound	The model must roll one Grit Die before Deployment at the start of each game from now on. If the roll is Failed, the model begins that game already Shaken.			
Lasting Injury — One-Eyed	The model suffers a -1 Die Modifier on all Shooting Tests from now on.			
Lasting Injury — Limp	If on foot, the model can only make one Move Action per Activation from now on, regardless of how many Actions it has.			
Lasting Injury — Weakened	The model suffers a -1 Die Modifier on all Fight Tests from now on.			

